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Note: Here and throughout this report, the U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from Japanese yen, solely for the convenience of readers, 
at the rate of ¥98.23 = US$1.00, the approximate exchange rate on March 31, 2009.
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The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., is a leading manufacturer in the global 

tire industry. In addition, the company applies original strengths in rubber 

polymer technology in successful lines of diversified business, including 

high-pressure hoses, sealants and adhesives, other industrial products, 

aircraft products, and golf products. A commitment to anticipating and 

satisfying customer needs has steered Yokohama since the company’s 

establishment in 1917. 

 Yokohama is tackling renewed growth under its Grand Design 

100 medium-term management plan. Launched in April 2006, that plan 

is a systematic framework for achieving annual net sales of ¥1 trillion and 

annual operating income of ¥100 billion by the fiscal year to March 31, 

2018. Grand Design 100 accompanies its financial targets with the vision 

of evoking a distinctive global identity in building corporate value and in 

building a strong market presence.
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Note Concerning Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report contains forward-looking estimates and forecasts based on management’s plans, which are subject to unforeseeable risks and uncertainties. 
The company’s business results could differ significantly from those estimates and forecasts. 
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To Our Shareholders

Sales and earnings down

We posted a net loss of ¥5.7 billion in the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 2009, compared with net 

income of ¥21.1 billion in the previous fiscal year. 

That loss reflected a 61.3% decline in operating 

income, to ¥12.8 billion, on a 6.2% decline in net 

sales, to ¥517.3 billion. Largely responsible for the 

deterioration in profitability were rising prices for 

raw materials, the sharp appreciation of the yen, 

and a weakening of demand associated with 

the global economic downturn. We declared a 

year-end dividend of ¥4 per share and 

maintained the interim dividend at ¥6, so the 

aggregate dividend for the full year totaled ¥10.

Short of the Grand Design 100 Phase I targets

This April, we inaugurated the second phase of 

our Grand Design 100 medium-term management 

plan. That plan centers on goals for the fiscal 

year to March 31, 2018, when we will celebrate 

our corporate centennial. It calls for increasing 

annual net sales to ¥1 trillion and for increasing 

annual operating income to ¥100 billion and 

thereby raising operating return on sales to 10%. 

 Grand Design 100 comprises four 

three-year segments. Phase I focused on the 

theme of profitable growth. The main financial 

targets in that three-year segment were net sales 

of ¥560 billion and operating income of ¥35 

billion. Our frustrating fiscal performance in the 

past fiscal year left us 7.6% shy of the sales target 

and 63.4% short of the target for operating income.

Growth initiatives

Despite our failure to achieve the main financial 

goals of Phase I, tackling those goals occasioned 

valuable initiatives. We marked progress in 

globalizing our operations. We expanded our 

production capacity for tires about 20%, mainly 

outside Japan. And we established marketing 

platforms in Brazil, Russia, and India. Together with 

our marketing operations in China, that gives us a 

sales presence in all four of the large and hugely 

promising markets of the so-called BRICs. 

 We also marked progress in asserting 

distinctive technological capabilities in new 

products. That included augmenting our DNA line 

of fuel-saving tires with the launch of the DNA dB 

super E-spec. The new DNA tire combines 

superior fuel economy with a quiet ride, and we 

use nonpetroleum materials for fully 80% of the 

raw materials in the tire. 

Grand Design 100 Phase II

Our guiding theme for Phase II of Grand Design 

100, which covers the three years to March 2012, 

is quality growth. In Phase II, we will work to 

increase net sales to ¥550.0 billion and to 

increase operating income to ¥38.5 billion. And 

we will strive to generate cumulative cash flow of 

more than ¥30 billion over the three years. That 

free cash flow would furnish a solid groundwork 

for continuing growth in Phase III. 

Growth strategies

We are counting on the Tire Group to generate 

most of the growth that we envision for Phase II. 

To foster that growth, we will focus on raising our 

profile globally in the tire marketplace, on 

expanding and upgrading production capacity 

to respond flexibly to market trends in different 

regions, and on integrating regional operations in 

support of increased globalization. In the Multiple 

Business (diversified products) Group, we will 

concentrate on expanding business globally in 

high-pressure hoses; in conveyor belts; and in 

marine products, such as marine hoses and 

pneumatic marine fenders, and on asserting 

distinctive strengths in environmental 

technologies to develop business in renewable 

energies and in other new product sectors.

Technology strategy 

Our technological strategy centers on 

safeguarding the environment and on delivering 

the best products at competitive prices and on 

Going to work on raising sales to 

¥550.0 billion and operating income 

to ¥38.5 billion in the fiscal year 

to March 31, 2012

Aiming for Renewed Growth time. Meanwhile, we are reinforcing our corporate 

foundation by addressing corporate social 

responsibility in management, by reducing waste 

through our Muda-dori (waste-reduction) activities, 

and by restructuring our domestic operations.

Outlook for earnings growth on declining sales

We project improved profitability in the fiscal year 

to March 31, 2010. That projection is despite 

expectations of a further decline in net sales and is 

attributable mainly to the recent decline in raw 

material costs. Our projections call for a return to 

after-tax profitability, supported by an increase in 

operating income. We project net income of ¥7.0 

billion, an improvement of ¥12.7 billion, on 

operating income of ¥17.0 billion, up 32.7%. Our 

projection for net sales is ¥490.0 billion, down 5.3%. 

Dampening the outlook for sales are slumping 

demand, caused by the global economic 

slowdown, and the appreciation of 

the yen. We plan to pay an interim dividend of ¥4 

and a year-end dividend of ¥6. That would 

maintain the aggregate annual dividend at ¥10 

per share. 

 The quality growth that we are eyeing in 

Phase II of Grand Design 100 is crucial to achieving 

the overall goals of the management plan. We 

appreciate your continuing support and 

understanding as we tackle this important 

undertaking.

June 2009

Tadanobu Nagumo

President and Representative Director

Tadanobu Nagumo
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Corporate Foundation

TECHNOLOGY STRATEGY

Fulfill our corporate social responsibility      Reduce waste      Reshape our Japanese operations

Step up global marketing in 
growth sectors

Develop business in new 
product sectors

Devote high priority to 
technologies for protecting 
the environment

Deliver the best products at 
competitive prices and 
on time

Heighten our presence in 
the global marketplace

Respond flexibly to demand 
in each market

Globalize operations 
more thoroughly

GROWTH STRATEGY
T I R E  G R O U P

GROWTH STRATEGY
M B  G R O U P

Ltd. That subsidiary produces passenger car 

tires, and the expansion will increase its 

production capacity to 4.1 million tires a year, 

from 3 million.

Globalize operations more thoroughly

We are devolving marketing responsibilities to 

locally based operations in principal markets to 

adapt product development and marketing to 

local needs. And we are considering outsourcing 

some tire production to local partners to respond 

better to demand in different regions.

MB GROUP
Step up global marketing in growth sectors

High-pressure hoses, conveyor belts, marine 

hoses, and marine fenders are growth markets 

where we assert compelling strengths. We are 

working to make the most of those strengths in 

the global marketplace. That includes stepping 

up our marketing in Europe, where we perceive 

notably rich potential for our products in high-

pressure hoses, marine hoses, and marine 

fenders. 

 Europe is home to several large oil 

companies and other resource-development 

companies, and we are promoting our products 

aggressively to those companies. We established 

a subsidiary in Germany in April 2009 to 

coordinate our European marketing in diversified 

products. That subsidiary began supplying 

high-pressure hoses in May to a Japanese 

manufacturer’s off-the-road equipment 

operations in Europe. 

 We fortified our European supply 

capabilities in high-pressure hoses further in the 

past fiscal year through a collaboration. A local 

partner began assembling our high-pressure 

TIRE GROUP
Heighten our presence in the global marketplace

In Phase II of Grand Design 100, we will promote 

our fuel-saving product advances extensively in 

overseas markets. Yokohama pioneered the 

Japanese market for fuel economy–oriented tires 

in 1998, and we have accumulated unexcelled 

technology in that sector. Our global moves will 

begin with our top-of-the-line product in 

fuel-saving tires, the dB super E-spec (marketed in 

Japan as the DNA dB super E-spec). We 

launched that product in the United States in July 

2009 and are preparing to launch it in Europe. 

 Promoting high-performance tires under 

the ADVAN name, our global flagship brand, was 

an emphasis in Phase I of Grand Design 100, and 

we will step up that emphasis in Phase II. That will 

include working to win more factory fitments 

worldwide for ADVAN tires.

Respond flexibly to demand in each market 

Amid economic uncertainty, we are expanding 

production capacity for tires in accordance with 

regional circumstances. Russia, for example, 

presents convincing potential for growth in tire 

demand, and we will build a plant to produce 

passenger car tires in southwestern Russia in the 

Lipetsk special economic zone. The plant, 

scheduled to begin operation in 2011, will have 

an initial production capacity of 1.4 million tires 

a year. 

 China, meanwhile, is poised for 

economic recovery. So we will restart the 

temporarily suspended expansion project at 

our subsidiary Hangzhou Yokohama Tire Co., 

Grand Design 100: Phase II Begins
We inaugurated the second phase of our Grand Design 100 medium-term management plan in 

April 2009. Grand Design 100, launched in April 2006, calls for achieving annual net sales of ¥1 

trillion and annual operating income of ¥100 billion by the fiscal year to March 31, 2018, and it 

comprises four three-year segments. Phase II covers the three years to March 31, 2012. Our 

defining policy for Phase II is quality growth, and we will reinforce our corporate foundation to 

support renewed growth amid the vagaries of the global economic downturn.

lay the groundwork for future growth by 

increasing aggregate free cash flow over 

the three years to more than ¥30 billion, 

compared with negative cash flow of 

¥19.3 billion in the past fiscal year.

The chief financial targets in Phase II are to

raise net sales to ¥550.0 billion, a 6.3% 

increase over the past fiscal year, ended 

March 31, 2009;

raise operating return on sales to 7.0%, 

compared with 2.5% in the past fiscal 

year, by increasing operating income to 

¥38.5 billion; and

GROWTH STRATEGIES
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Devote high priority to technologies for 

protecting the environment

The usage stage of the product life cycle is 

when the output of carbon dioxide is the 

greatest. So we are working to develop 

products that minimize the generation of carbon 

dioxide during that stage. In tires, we are 

working to develop tires that minimize rolling 

resistance and weight.

Deliver the best products at competitive prices 

and on time

We are upgrading our capabilities in analyzing 

market trends and in planning products, and we 

are building a global framework for research 

and evaluation. In each region, we are tailoring 

our mass production technology to local needs 

and circumstances. And we are fostering 

human resources that possess excellent 

technological capabilities. That includes working 

systematically to ensure the transfer of skills and 

expertise from one generation of engineers to 

the next. 

CORPORATE FOUNDATION

Fulfill our corporate social responsibility

We will redouble our efforts to earn the 

confidence of the community by safeguarding  

the environment, by addressing social concerns, 

and by honoring the human element while 

pursuing corporate interests. Our efforts will 

include offering a growing range of products 

that minimize environmental impact, eliminating 

landfill waste at plants worldwide, and planting 

500,000 trees at operations around the world in 

the Yokohama Forever Forest project. 

Reduce waste

Press ahead with the Muda-dori (waste-

reduction) activities to tap employee initiative in 

identifying and eliminating waste. Those activities 

yielded about ¥24 billion in cost savings during 

Phase I of Grand Design 100. In Phase II, we will 

promote the Muda-dori activities even more 

extensively and position them as a self-sustaining 

element of the company’s corporate culture.

Reshape our Japanese operations

We need to reshape our Japanese operations to 

accommodate market saturation and slowing 

growth. That will mean restructuring our 

Japanese sales networks for replacement tires 

and for diversified products.

Yokohama has built highly regarded sales networks in Japan 

for passenger car tires and for truck and bus tires. Those 

networks are a crucial strategic asset, and keeping them 

focused on changing market circumstances is a high priority. 

Yokohama is therefore reshaping its sales networks to cope 

with market saturation and with the economic ramifications of 

Japan’s aging and gradually shrinking population.

Yokohama’s Replacement Tire Marketing in Japan

RESHAPING

TECHNOLOGY STRATEGY

hoses and fittings to supply to European 

customers on a just-in-time basis. 

 Our growth strategy includes promoting 

conveyor belts, marine hoses, and marine 

fenders in emerging markets, such as China and 

Russia, where resource-development projects 

present growing demand. And we are 

expanding our global production and marketing 

networks for those products.

Develop business in new product sectors 

We are asserting distinctive strengths in original 

technologies to develop new business in 

environmental sectors, such as 

high-performance seals for photovoltaic cells 

and structural adhesives for weight-saving 

automotive bodies. In addition, we are working 

with the Samsung Group to develop adhesives 

for liquid crystal display panels.
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Three companies by 2011

Work got under way in July 2009 on 

sweeping measures for reinforcing the 

effectiveness of Yokohama’s Japanese 

sales networks for tires. Those measures 

consist of (1) combining all of Yokohama’s 

tire-wholesaling operations in a single 

subsidiary and (2) combining all of 

Yokohama’s company-owned 

tire-retailing operations in two 

subsidiaries: one for passenger car tires 

and one for truck and bus tires.

Community-based sales

The new wholesaling subsidiary, Yokohama 

Tire Japan, has divided Japan into 38 sales 

territories. That is more than twice as many as 

the 18 territories served by the distributors that 

it absorbed. The smaller sales territories will 

enable Yokohama Tire Japan to tailor its 

marketing more closely and more promptly to 

local needs and circumstances. 

A unified approach to large independent 

retailers

Yokohama Tire Japan groups its 38 sales 

territories in six geographical blocs, each 

under a separate sales division. The sales 

divisions, in addition to coordinating their sales 

units, promote Yokohama tires strategically to 

large independent retailers of automotive 

supplies in their geographical blocs. Large 

retailers of automotive products that operate 

nationwide chains are important sales 

channels for tires. The creation of Yokohama 

Tire Japan has given Yokohama an 

integrated, nationwide platform for serving 

those retailers. 

Leaner operations

The sales divisions for the six geographical 

blocs have absorbed the accounting, human 

resources, and general affairs functions of the 

former 18 distributors. In addition, Yokohama is 

moving to streamline logistics in its Japanese 

network of 313 supply depots. 

Summary of Step 1
S T E P  1  

Set up a wholesaling subsidiary in July 2009

In July 2009, Yokohama established the wholly 

owned subsidiary Yokohama Tire Japan Co., Ltd., 

to handle all of its tire wholesaling in Japan. It 

created Yokohama Tire Japan by combining 18 

majority-owned distributors, a marketing 

subsidiary for sport-utility tires, and the 

parent-company operations for replacement tire 

sales. That integration brings Yokohama’s 

marketing closer to customers and lowers costs 

by eliminating redundancy in administrative 

functions. 

S T E P  2  

Set up retailing subsidiaries for passenger 

car tires and for truck and bus tires by 2011

Yokohama owns 32 companies that operate 

sales outlets for its passenger car tires. It will 

combine those companies by 2011 to create a 

single retailing subsidiary for passenger car tires. 

That will eliminate redundancy in administrative 

and marketing functions, and it will allow the 

retail outlets to focus on customer service. 

 Similarly, Yokohama owns 50 companies 

that operate sales outlets for truck and bus tires. 

And it will combine them by 2011 to create a 

retailing subsidiary for truck and bus tires. Along 

with raising operational efficiency, that will 

enable Yokohama to provide truck and bus 

operators with seamlessly integrated service 

nationwide.

Streamling Yokohama’s Marketing in Replacement Tires

First Step: July 2009

Yokohama Rubber

50 operators of 
sales outlets for 

truck and bus tires 

32 operators of 
sales outlets for 

passenger car tires 

Preparations for 
combining retail 

operators for 
passenger car tires  

Preparations for 
combining retail 

operators for
truck and bus tires

Parent-company operations for 
replacement tire marketing

Second Step: by 2011

Yokohama Tire Japan: wholesaling 

19 tire distributors 

38 regional sales units in 
6 geographical blocs 

Marketing headquarters

Bloc sales division 
Regional sales unit

Regional sales unit

Regional sales unit

Yokohama Tire Japan: wholesaling

National retailing subsidiary 
for passenger car tires 

 

National retailing subsidiary 
for truck and bus tires 
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Yokohama at a Glance

Tire Group

¥399.7 billion — 77.3% of net sales

Tire Group

Fiscal 2009 net sales:

 ¥517.3 billion
Multiple Business Group

Principal products
Tires for passenger cars and light trucks, for trucks and buses, and for construction and mining equipment, 
industrial vehicles, and other applications; aluminum alloy wheels and other peripheral products

Principal products
Hoses, sealants and adhesives, conveyor belts, anti-seismic products, marine hoses, pneumatic marine 
fenders, aircraft products, golf products

Japan’s market leader in high-pressure hoses and in construction and automotive sealants

Yokohama asserts unmatched strengths in high-pressure hoses for off-the-road equipment, in sealants for 

buildings, and in windshield sealants for automobiles.

A world leader in marine hoses and marine fenders

The company is the world’s largest supplier of pneumatic fenders for protecting ship hulls. It is also a leading 

supplier of marine hoses for loading and unloading crude oil.

Lightweight, high-strength aircraft products

Yokohama supplies lavatory modules for the Boeing 737 airliner and drinking-water and wastewater tanks 

for the Airbus A380. Underlying the competitiveness of Yokohama’s aircraft products are the company’s 

unique strengths in fabricating lightweight, high-strength items from fiber-reinforced plastic.

A focus on environmentally friendly tires

Yokohama’s DNA line of fuel-saving tires anchors the company’s product portfolio in Japan. DNA tires 

contribute to fuel economy—and to minimizing the output of carbon dioxide—while providing superior 

performance in regard to the fundamental criteria of handling and comfort. Recent progress in extending 

DNA tires’ useful life has further increased their environmental benefits.

Global scope in high-performance tires

We began marketing our high-performance ADVAN tires worldwide in 2005 as a global brand for raising our 

market profile. ADVAN tires feature state-of-the-art advances in maximizing every aspect of tire value. They 

are a true showcase of Yokohama’s leadership in tire technology.

Multiple Business Group

¥117.5 billion — 22.7% of net sales
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Review of Operations

Tire Group

Sales in Yokohama’s Tire Group declined 4.8% 

in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, to 

¥399.7 billion, and operating income declined 

62.0%, to ¥9.9 billion. The decrease in sales 

resulted mainly from (1) large sales declines for 

Yokohama in Japan in replacement tires and in 

original equipment tires and (2) the appreciation 

of the yen, which negated the sales contribution 

of unit volume gains in overseas markets. The 

decrease in operating income reflected rising 

prices for raw materials, as well as the decline 

in sales. 

 Yokohama projects that sales in the Tire 

Group will decline 4.9%, to ¥380 billion, 

in the fiscal year to March 31, 2010, and that 

operating income in the group will increase 

31.4%, to ¥13 billion. The projected decline in 

sales reflects expectations of weakening demand 

amid slowing economic growth worldwide and 

concerns about a possible strengthening of the 

yen. The projected increase in operating income 

reflects a recent decline in raw material costs.

Japan

Weakening demand in the second half of the 

fiscal year diminished Yokohama’s business 

overall in Japan’s replacement market. Another 

negative sales factor in replacement tires was 

less-than-average snowfall, which reduced 

demand for winter tires. Yokohama increased its 

market share in replacement tires partly by 

promoting new products effectively in 

premium-grade tires. And it raised prices to offset 

part of the adverse effect of rising raw material 

costs on operating profitability. 

 Among new products of note was the 

DNA Earth-1, a passenger car tire that features 

superior fuel savings. Yokohama launched that 

tire in February 2008, and it proved extremely 

popular as car owners contended with rising 

gasoline prices. Another new product of note was 

the ice GUARD TRIPLE, a winter tire launched in 

September 2008. The ice GUARD TRIPLE features 

important advances in grip on icy surfaces. It sold 

well despite the slackening demand for winter 

tires and helped increase Yokohama’s market 

share in that product category. 

 Management at Yokohama expects 

Japanese demand for replacement tires to 

change little in the present fiscal year. The 

company is moving to increase sales and 

earnings by focusing on high-value-added tires 

and by optimizing its product mix. That includes 

continuing to promote the fuel-saving 

performance of the DNA Earth-1 aggressively. It 

also means promoting two new tires for 

passenger cars: the sporty ADVAN NEOVA AD08, 

launched in February 2009, and the ADVAN dB, 

a high-end tire launched in July 2009 that offers 

superior riding comfort. With an eye to the 

expected rebound in demand for winter tires, 

Yokohama is stepping up its marketing efforts on 

behalf of the ice GUARD TRIPLE. 

 Yokohama’s stepped-up marketing in 

replacement tires includes truck and bus tires. 

The company’s ZEN series has earned high 

regard for wear resistance and fuel economy in 

that sector, and Yokohama is preparing to augment 

that series with the 902ZE studless winter tire. 

 In original equipment tires, Yokohama’s 

sales declined in the past fiscal year in unit 

volume and in yen. Demand shrank as Japanese 

production of vehicles declined sharply in the 

second half of the fiscal year. The decline in tire 

demand was especially severe in truck and bus 

tires. That followed a surge in demand in the 

previous year in advance of tightened emissions 

regulations. Demand for off-the-road tires 

also slumped. 

North America

In the United States, Yokohama posted growth in 

unit volume and in sales value in the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2009. That growth was despite 

The ADVAN dB combines a quiet, comfortable ride with superior handling: ideal for state-of-the-art luxury cars.

shrinkage in U.S. demand for replacement tires 

and for original equipment tires. It reflected high 

regard for Yokohama tire products in the U.S. 

market and the company’s success in forging 

ties there with topflight dealers. Yokohama 

succeeded in shifting the focus of its product 

portfolio to higher-value-added tires, and its 

price increases for passenger car tires and 

light-truck tires took hold in the marketplace. 

 Contributing notably to Yokohama’s 

business expansion in the United States was the 

AVID Touring-S passenger car tire. Launched in 

September 2008, the AVID Touring-S features a 

quiet, comfortable ride, and its performance-

price balance proved appealing for American 

customers. Sales gains in truck and bus tires also 

contributed to Yokohama’s U.S. business 

expansion. Supporting those gains were progress 

in recruiting dealers and in the Advantage 

incentive program for retailers. That program was 

highly effective in motivating retailers of 

passenger car tires, and Yokohama broadened it 

to include truck and bus tires in 2008. 

 Tire demand in the United States 

appears likely to shrink further in the present fiscal 

year. Yokohama  is working to maintain its sales  

volume through timely product launches and  

finely tuned geographical strategy. It launched

a completely remodeled version of the sporty    
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ADVAN NEOVA AD08 in the United States 

in April 2009. And it launched the dB super 

E-spec in the U.S. market in July 2009. That 

tire, which is 80% nonpetroleum materials by 

weight, offers top-of-the-line fuel savings. 

Yokohama is also preparing to launch the 

ZEN series of wear-resistant truck and bus tires 

in the United States. 

 In Canada, demand for replacement 

tires expanded in the past fiscal year, and 

Yokohama posted sales growth of more than 

20% there. The company recorded especially 

strong growth in winter tires. Spurring that growth 

was a new law that took effect in Quebec in 

December 2008 requiring vehicle owners to 

equip their vehicles with winter tires during the 

winter months. Yokohama asserted its 

compelling strengths in winter tires in serving the 

surge in demand occasioned by the new law. 

Yokohama’s Canadian sales declined in truck 

and bus tires, partly because of the bankruptcy 

of a large customer. 

 Overall tire demand in Canada appears 

likely to grow slightly in the present fiscal year, 

and Yokohama is moving to increase its growth 

momentum there. It has slated important 

product launches, and it is expanding its training 

program for dealers. Product launches in the 

pipeline include the AVID Touring-S passenger 

car tire, which is popular in the U.S. market, and 

additional sizes in the ZEN series of truck and 

bus tires.

Asian nations besides Japan

Yokohama posted a strong first half in Asian 

nations besides Japan in the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2009. That offset a weak second half, 

and the company posted a unit sales increase 

for the fiscal year. 

 The company’s sales gains were 

especially pronounced in China, the Philippines, 

and the Republic of Korea. Contributing to the 

sales growth in those and in other nations was 

expansion of the Yokohama Club Network. That 

network comprises retailers whose sales of 

Yokohama tires account for more than a 

specified percentage of their overall sales. By 

product, Yokohama posted strong growth with 

high-performance tires sold under the ADVAN 

name, the company’s global flagship brand; 

with the sporty S.drive line; with the affordable 

A.drive line; and with the quiet- and 

comfort-oriented DNA dB line. 

 Yokohama is aiming for continued sales 

growth in Asian nations besides Japan in the 

present fiscal year. Demand appears to have 

bottomed out in the first half, and Yokohama’s 

operations in Asian nations have reduced their 

inventories. The company is tailoring its product 

strategy to local demand in each nation. It 

launched the TV01, for vans, in Thailand in early 

2008 and the fuel-saving DNA Earth-1, for 

passenger cars, in the Republic of Korea in April 

2009. Yokohama is preparing to launch the ice 

GUARD TRIPLE, a studless winter tire for passenger 

cars, in China and in the Republic of Korea in 

late 2009. In addition, it launched the sporty 

passenger car tire ADVAN NEOVA AD08 in all of 

its principal Asian markets in spring 2009. 

Europe

Yokohama achieved unit sales growth in the 

European tire market in the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2009. That growth was in contrast with 

the overall decline in European tire demand. 

Gains for Yokohama in passenger car tires offset 

a decline in truck and bus tires. Leading the 

company’s sales gains in passenger car tires was 

strong growth in Russia and in other nations of 

eastern Europe. Yokohama’s unit tire sales in 

Russia increased about 50%. That reflected 

progress in complementing Yokohama’s growing 

sales channels in large Russian cities with 

expanded sales channels in nonurban regions.

 Economic conditions remain weak in 

Europe in 2009, which bodes poorly for tire 

demand. Yokohama’s sales efforts in passenger 

car tires center on brand building through 

distinctive new products, including the 

fuel-saving dB super E-spec and the sporty 

ADVAN NEOVA AD08. The company is also 

addressing the adverse economic environment 

by stepping up liaison with its sales subsidiaries 

and with its independent distributors and by 

upgrading its support for those companies. 

Yokohama’s ice GUARD TRIPLE provides reliable grip on slush and on hard-frozen ice.

The ADVAN NEOVA AD08 is the epitome of 
high performance in street tires in 
Yokohama’s global flagship brand, 
ADVAN. It furnishes exemplary 
handling on wet and 
dry surfaces.
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Yokohama’s ice GUARD TRIPLE provides reliable grip on slush and on hard-frozen ice.

The ADVAN NEOVA AD08 is the epitome of 
high performance in street tires in 
Yokohama’s global flagship brand, 
ADVAN. It furnishes exemplary 
handling on wet and 
dry surfaces.
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Review of Operations

Multiple Business 
Group

Sales in Yokohama’s Multiple Business 

(diversified products) Group declined 10.7% in 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, to ¥117.5 

billion, and operating income declined 51.5%, 

to ¥3.4 billion. Business expanded in industrial 

products but declined in high-pressure hoses, 

in sealants and adhesives, in aircraft products, 

and in golf products and other MB products. 

Further undermining profitability were rising 

prices for raw materials and the appreciation 

of the yen.

 Yokohama projects that sales in the 

Multiple Business Group will decline 6.4% 

in the fiscal year to March 31, 2010, to ¥110 

billion, and that operating income will increase 

17.0%, to ¥4 billion. The projected decline in 

sales reflects expected declines in high-pressure 

hoses, in industrial products, and in sealants 

and adhesives. The projected increase in 

operating income reflects the recent decline 

in raw material costs.

High-pressure hoses

Yokohama’s sales of high-pressure hoses 

declined 15.9% in the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2009, to ¥36.5 billion. Japan accounts for 

about two-thirds of Yokohama’s sales in this 

product sector, and declining production in the 

fiscal second half at Japanese off-the-road 

equipment and automobile plants undercut 

demand for hydraulic hoses and for other 

high-pressure hoses. 

 Sales also declined at Yokohama’s U.S. 

subsidiaries that produce high-pressure hoses, 

SAS Rubber Company and YH America, Inc. 

Those two subsidiaries serve the automobile 

industry, and their business thus suffered from 

declining production volume at U.S. vehicle 

plants. Business expanded at Yokohama’s 

high-pressure hose operations in Taiwan, SC 

Kingflex Corporation, and in Thailand, Yokohama 

Rubber (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

 Demand for high-pressure hoses 

continues to decline in the present fiscal year, 

and Yokohama is working to attain sales of ¥30 

billion, which would be a decline of 17.8%. 

Minimizing the effect of declining production 

volume on unit costs is a pressing issue. 

Yokohama is studying ways to reallocate 

production resources, and it is tackling several 

measures for reducing fixed costs and raw 

material costs. In addition, the company is 

improving information linkage in its production 

network to become more responsive to customer 

needs and wants and to trends in demand.

Other regions

Yokohama’s unit tire sales in the Middle East 

increased in the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2009. A strong first-half performance offset 

second-half weakness. Unit sales of truck and bus 

tires grew 25%, driven by vigor in the 

resource-development sector. Overall tire 

demand in the Middle East has resumed growing 

in the present fiscal year, and Yokohama is 

moving to achieve continued growth. The 

company is augmenting its supply capacity in 

the region with imports from its Thai and 

Philippine plants. 

 In the Australian and other markets of 

Oceania, Yokohama’s unit tire sales declined in 

the past fiscal year as weak second-half sales 

offset first-half growth. Original equipment 

business with Australian vehicle plants accounts 

for a large portion of the company’s sales in the 

region, and a decline in unit vehicle production 

undercut sales volume. Yokohama achieved 

strong sales growth with its GEOLANDAR 

replacement tires for sport-utility vehicles. No sign 

of a recovery is discernible in the Australian 

market in the present fiscal year, and the 

company is taking steps to maintain sales 

volume in an adverse business environment. 

Its efforts include expanding the Tyres & More 

network of affiliated retailers and launching new 

products, such as the sporty ADVAN NEOVA 

AD08 for passenger cars and the wear-resistant 

104ZR for trucks and buses. 

 Yokohama posted unit sales growth in 

Latin America in the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2009. Strong first-half sales in the region offset a 

second-half decline. Leading the growth were 

sales gains in passenger car tires in Brazil and 

Argentina. An upturn in demand appears likely in 

the latter half of the present fiscal year, but 

moves toward import restrictions and a 

weakening of the local currencies cloud the 

market outlook. Yokohama is moving to secure 

sound revenue in the region by promoting 

high-value-added products, including the sporty 

passenger car tire ADVAN NEOVA AD08 and the 

truck-and-bus tire 104ZR. 

In January 2009, the venerable Dakar Rally moved to South America. Yokohama supplied a full range of tires for two teams 
that competed in the rally. Those teams fueled their vehicles with recycled cooking oil to demonstrate the potential for reducing 
enviromental impact in motor sports.
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Yokohama’s new Exceed line marks the company’s full-scale debut 
in the global market for replacement high-pressure hoses. The hoses
comply with the highest U.S. SAE standards for maximum pressure 
and for durability.

 Yokohama moved recently to establish 

a full-fledged presence in the global market for 

replacement high-pressure hoses. The company 

is a leading supplier of high-pressure hydraulic 

hoses to manufacturers of off-the-road 

equipment and machine tools around the world. 

In April 2009, it began marketing those hoses to 

equipment users in replacement markets 

overseas. Exceed is the name of a new line of 

high-pressure hoses that Yokohama has 

developed for the replacement market.

 The Exceed hoses incorporate the 

same technological strengths that underlie 

Yokohama’s extensive presence in original 

equipment hoses. They are light and flexible and 

thus facilitate size reductions in off-the-road 

equipment and in machine tools. Yokohama is 

further appealing to users by deploying product 

specifications in reference to the ISO 18752 

criteria for maximum application pressure and 

optimal aperture. That is in contrast with the 

traditional practice of deploying specifications in 

regard to structural features, such as textile 

reinforcement and steel-mesh reinforcement.

Industrial products

The Yokohama portfolio in industrial products 

consists mainly of conveyor belts, marine hoses, 

marine fenders, anti-seismic rubber-and-steel 

fittings for protecting structures from earthquakes, 

and rubber joints for road surfaces. Yokohama’s 

sales of industrial products increased 0.8% in the 

fiscal year to March 31, 2009, to ¥29.8 billion. That 

modest sales growth amid declining demand 

reflected notably large growth in anti-seismic 

products. 

 Yokohama’s business in conveyor belts 

expanded as a strong first half offset a weak 

second half. Leading the growth were sales gains 

in overseas markets, especially in conveyor belts 

for mines in the Asia-Pacific and in Latin America. 

 The company also posted sales growth in 

marine hoses. Business remained robust in marine 

hoses for loading and unloading oil tankers. 

Yokohama won its first orders for those products 

in Russia, Nigeria, and Malaysia and recorded 

sales growth in the Middle East, Thailand, and 

Indonesia. 

 Sales declined in marine fenders as the 

appreciation of the yen negated unit sales gains. 

Shipping companies’ expanded deployment of 

large, double-hull oil tankers increased demand 

for large marine fenders, and Yokohama also 

won an increased number of orders for fixed 

fenders for installation on wharves. 

 Business in anti-seismic rubber-and-steel 

fittings for protecting structures from earthquakes 

grew 32%. Leading that growth were orders in 

conjunction with a large freeway construction 

project in Japan. Business declined in rubber 

joints for road surfaces on account of delays in 

construction projects. 

 Management at Yokohama expects little 

change in overall business volume in industrial 

products in the fiscal year to March 31, 2010. It 

projects a 2.5% decline in sales, to ¥29 billion.

Sealants and adhesives

Yokohama posted a 6.8% sales decline in 

sealants and adhesives in the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2009, to ¥24.2 billion. Construction 

sealants are the company’s largest source of 

sales in this product category, and business in 

those sealants grew. Improved urethane sealants 

helped Yokohama achieve that growth despite 

a downturn in commercial and residential 

construction. 

 Offsetting the sales growth in 

construction sealants was a decline in sales of 

automotive windshield sealants. Business in those 

sealants contracted sharply in Japan on 

account of the downturn in vehicle production. 

At overseas subsidiaries that produce 

automotive sealants and adhesives, sales 

increased at Yokohama Rubber (Thailand) Co., 

Ltd., but sales declined at YH America, Inc., on 

account of declining vehicle production in 

North America.

 Yokohama projects a 4.9% decline in 

sales of sealants and adhesives, to ¥23 billion, in 

the fiscal year to March 31, 2010. That projection 

reflects the continuing shrinkage in Japanese 

vehicle production, which will undercut demand 

for windshield sealants. Japanese demand is 

growing, however, for construction sealants for 

building-refurbishment work, and Yokohama is 

promoting its urethane sealants aggressively for 

waterproofing roofs and verandas.

 Developing applications in new markets 

is an important part of Yokohama’s growth 

strategy in sealants and adhesives. Yokohama is 

developing new applications, for example, for its 

high-performance coating Y-COAT. The 

company has developed extensive business for 

that product in cell phones and in digital 

cameras and has begun promoting Y-COAT in 

other applications, such as containers for 

beauty-care products.  

Laminated bearings of rubber and steel 
supplied by Yokohama provide seismic 
protection for a new freeway under 
construction in Japan between Tokyo and 
Nagoya.
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Aircraft products

Business in aircraft products at Yokohama 

declined 14.7% in the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2009, to ¥16.3 billion. That decline included 

downturns in the private sector and in 

government business, and it reflected the 

adverse effect of the appreciation of the yen on 

overseas business. Almost no new business arose 

in the government sector. A decline in 

production volume at Boeing Company 

diminished original equipment demand for 

lavatory modules and drinking-water tanks. And 

the global economic slump prompted airlines to 

delay orders for replacement items.

 In the fiscal year to March 31, 2010, 

Yokohama is targeting sales growth of 4.6% in 

aerospace products, to ¥17 billion. That figure, 

essentially unchanged from the past fiscal year, 

reflects the possible appreciation of the yen, the 

continuing belt-tightening in the government 

sector, and delays in new-aircraft purchases and 

in aircraft refurbishing at airlines. Marketing 

strategy at Yokohama centers on winning new 

replacement business in lavatory modules and 

water tanks with established customers and on 

winning replacement business with new 

customers.

Golf products, other

Yokohama’s business in golf products and other 

Multiple Business products declined 20.6% in the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, to ¥10.8 billion. 

Japanese demand for golf equipment shrank 

amid the economic downturn, especially in 

high-end products, where Yokohama excels. The 

appreciation of the yen, meanwhile, diminished 

Yokohama’s sales in the Republic of Korea. 

Yokohama augmented its product line with the 

TR-X505 clubs, which help maximize distance, and 

with the GN502 clubs, which are all-around clubs 

for weekend golfers. 

 In the present fiscal year, Yokohama is 

aiming to increase sales in golf products and 

other Multiple Business products 1.6%, to ¥11 

billion. Demand is likely to remain weak, and the 

company is moving to capitalize on the name 

value of its PRGR brand by offering distinctive new 

products and by expanding its sales channels.
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© American Airlines

American Airlines turned to Yokohama 
for replacement lavatory modules for 
refurbishing its Boeing 757 airliners in 
the past fiscal year. Yokohama’s 
modules maximize comfort and styling 
with a space-optimizing rounded 
configuration. The first refurbished 
American Airlines airliners equipped 
with the new modules went into 
service in January 2009.

Yokohama’s GN502 clubs are easy to 
handle for golfers of any attainment. 
They are balanced to meet the ball 
squarely, and they help reduce the slice 
prevalent among amateur linksters.
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Operating results

Net sales at Yokohama declined 6.2%, to 
¥517.3 billion, in the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2009. In the Company’s Tire Group, sales 
declined in Japan in original equipment tires 
and in replacement tires, and sales declined in 
overseas markets as the appreciation of the yen 
offset unit sales gains. Sales declined in 
Yokohama’s Multiple Business Group as declines 
in high-pressure hoses, sealants and adhesives, 
aircraft products, and golf products offset 
growth in anti-seismic rubber-and-steel fittings for 
structures.
 Cost of sales declined 3.3%, to ¥368.9 
billion, and gross return on sales declined to 
28.7%, from 30.8% in the previous fiscal year. The 
chief reasons for the decline in gross profitability 
were a continuing rise in prices for raw materials 
and declines in capacity utilization rates. 
 Selling, general and administrative 
expenses declined 1.0%, to ¥135.5 billion—26.2% 
of net sales, compared with 24.8% in the previous 
fiscal year. The chief reason for the increase 
relative to net sales was increased logistics and 
selling costs associated with overseas unit sales 
growth. R&D expenses, included in cost of sales 
and in selling, general and administrative 
expenses, remained at ¥15.3 billion.

 Operating income declined 61.3%, to 
¥12.8 billion. The operating profit margin 
declined 3.5 points, to 2.5%. 
 Net other expenses totaled ¥16.0 billion, 
compared with ¥12.6 billion in the previous fiscal 
year. The stronger yen resulted in translation 
losses on foreign currency denominated 
receivables, and it increased the local currency 
valuation of yen-denominated liabilities at 
overseas subsidiaries. The stock market slump 
caused valuation losses on investment securities.
 Yokohama posted a loss before income 
taxes and minority interests of ¥3.2 billion, 
compared with income before income taxes 
and minority interests of ¥20.5 billion in the 
previous fiscal year. Income taxes increased ¥3.1 
billion, to ¥2.1 billion. That increase reflected the 
drawdown of deferred tax assets in connection 
with the partial relinquishment of a tax benefit 
associated with the write-down of unrealized 
gains on inventories. The Company posted a net 
loss of ¥5.7 billion, compared with net income of 
¥21.1 billion in the previous fiscal year. 

Results by segment

By business segment
Sales declined 4.8% in Yokohama’s Tire Group, to 
¥399.7 billion, and operating income declined 

62.0%, to ¥9.9 billion. The decline in operating 
income reflected the decline in sales and the 
continuing rise in raw material costs. 
 In Yokohama’s Multiple Business Group, 
sales declined 10.7%, to ¥117.5 billion, and 
operating income declined 51.5%, to ¥3.4 billion. 
As in the Tire Group, the rise in raw material costs 
aggravated the effect of the sales decline on 
operating income.

By geographical segment
Sales in Japan declined 7.2%, to ¥359.3 billion, 
and operating income declined 80.6%, to ¥4.4 
billion. Aggravating the effect of declining sales 
on operating profitability was the continuing 
increase in raw material costs. 
 In North America, sales declined 9.1%, to 
¥101.8 billion, and operating income declined 
39.9%, to ¥4.0 billion. Unit sales volume grew, and 
dollar-denominated sales increased, but the 
appreciation of the Japanese currency 
diminished the yen-denominated value of sales. 
As in Japan, the continuing increase in raw 
material costs aggravated the adverse effect of 
declining sales on operating income.  
 Sales increased 2.8% in Asian nations 
besides Japan, to ¥23.6 billion, and operating 
income declined 28.6%, to ¥2.0 billion. Strong 
sales in China contributed to the sales growth in 

the region. Start-up expenses at Suzhou 
Yokohama Tire Co., Ltd., which began 
producing truck and bus tires in October 2008, 
weighed on earnings in this geographical 
segment. 
 In other regions, sales increased 11.3%, 
to ¥32.5 billion, and operating income increased 
47.4%, to ¥1.5 billion. Leading the gains in sales 
and earnings was business growth in Russia, 
where Yokohama expanded its sales channels. 
 
Capital spending

Capital spending increased 58.8%, to ¥43.3 
billion. Yokohama funded that spending with 
internally generated funds and with borrowings. 
In the Tire Group, capital spending totaled ¥38.4 
billion. That total included ¥17.9 billion of 
investment at the parent company for 
expanding production capacity, for raising 
productivity, and for improving product quality. 
It also included ¥9.3 billion of investment at
Yokohama Tire Manufacturing (Thailand) Co., 
Ltd., for expanding production capacity for tires 
for passenger cars and light trucks and for 
building a proving ground and ¥3.3 billion of 
investment at Suzhou Yokohama Tire for 
expanding production capacity for truck and 
bus tires. In the Multiple Business Group, capital 
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Operating results
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selling costs associated with overseas unit sales 
growth. R&D expenses, included in cost of sales 
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losses on foreign currency denominated 
receivables, and it increased the local currency 
valuation of yen-denominated liabilities at 
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caused valuation losses on investment securities.
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drawdown of deferred tax assets in connection 
with the partial relinquishment of a tax benefit 
associated with the write-down of unrealized 
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 In Yokohama’s Multiple Business Group, 
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operating income.
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billion. Aggravating the effect of declining sales 
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increase in raw material costs. 
 In North America, sales declined 9.1%, to 
¥101.8 billion, and operating income declined 
39.9%, to ¥4.0 billion. Unit sales volume grew, and 
dollar-denominated sales increased, but the 
appreciation of the Japanese currency 
diminished the yen-denominated value of sales. 
As in Japan, the continuing increase in raw 
material costs aggravated the adverse effect of 
declining sales on operating income.  
 Sales increased 2.8% in Asian nations 
besides Japan, to ¥23.6 billion, and operating 
income declined 28.6%, to ¥2.0 billion. Strong 
sales in China contributed to the sales growth in 

the region. Start-up expenses at Suzhou 
Yokohama Tire Co., Ltd., which began 
producing truck and bus tires in October 2008, 
weighed on earnings in this geographical 
segment. 
 In other regions, sales increased 11.3%, 
to ¥32.5 billion, and operating income increased 
47.4%, to ¥1.5 billion. Leading the gains in sales 
and earnings was business growth in Russia, 
where Yokohama expanded its sales channels. 
 
Capital spending

Capital spending increased 58.8%, to ¥43.3 
billion. Yokohama funded that spending with 
internally generated funds and with borrowings. 
In the Tire Group, capital spending totaled ¥38.4 
billion. That total included ¥17.9 billion of 
investment at the parent company for 
expanding production capacity, for raising 
productivity, and for improving product quality. 
It also included ¥9.3 billion of investment at
Yokohama Tire Manufacturing (Thailand) Co., 
Ltd., for expanding production capacity for tires 
for passenger cars and light trucks and for 
building a proving ground and ¥3.3 billion of 
investment at Suzhou Yokohama Tire for 
expanding production capacity for truck and 
bus tires. In the Multiple Business Group, capital 
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Interest-Bearing Debt, Net Assets*,and 
Debt-to-Equity Ratio**
(Billions of Yen, Times)
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Capital Expenditures Depreciation
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Less minority interests
Interest-bearing debt
divided by net assets
less minority interests

*
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Below is a partial listing of risks that could adversely 
affect the Company’s business performance, 
financial position, or share price. All references to 
possible future events are from the standpoint of 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009. 

Economic conditions
Vehicle tires account for most of the Company’s 
worldwide revenues. Demand for those tires 
reflects economic conditions in nations and 
regions where the Company sells its products. 
Economic trends and developments that diminish 
demand in the Company’s main markets could 
adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position. 

Competition
A loss of market share caused by a deterioration 
of the Company’s competitive position or a 
decline in selling prices caused by escalating 
competition could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Exchange rates
The Company conducts most of its business 
transactions and investment in yen, but it 
conducts some transactions and investment in 
dollars and in other currencies. The Company 
hedges its exposure to currency exchange rates 
with forward exchange contracts and with other 
instruments, but that hedging cannot necessarily 
offset the full effect of fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates on the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Weather
A later-than-usual onset of winter or lighter-than-
usual snowfall could diminish demand for winter 
tires and thereby adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Raw material prices
Increases in prices for natural rubber and for 
crude oil have adversely affected the Company’s 
business performance and financial position in 
recent years, and they could have a similar effect 
in the future.

Access to funds
Instability in any of the world’s principal financial 
markets could limit the Company’s access to 

funding. In addition, a lowering of the Company’s 
credit rating by leading credit-rating agencies 
could increase the Company’s cost of funds, 
which would adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Interest rates
As of March 31, 2009, the Company’s 
interest-bearing debt was equivalent to 38.6% of 
its total assets. An increase in interest rates could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position.

Securities
The Company owns marketable securities, mainly 
Japanese equities. A decline in the value of those 
securities could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Investment
The Company is investing in expanding its tire 
production capacity, especially in Asia. Changes 
in the regulatory environment, in economic 
conditions, in industrial circumstances, or in 
political and social stability in the host nations 
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Retirement benefit obligations
The Company calculates retirement benefit 
obligations and retirement benefit expenses 
according to predetermined criteria, including 
expected returns on pension assets. If actual 
return on the Company’s pension assets declined 
substantially below the expected return, that 
could adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position. Similarly, if the 
Company revised its retirement plan in a manner 
that increased future payment obligations as a 
result of unforeseen changes in actuarial 
calculations or for any other reason, that could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position.

Natural disasters
Earthquakes and other natural disasters could 
damage the Company’s plants and other 
facilities and could limit the Company’s access to 
essential raw materials and services. That could 
adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Risk

spending totaled ¥5.3 billion. That investment 
was mainly for expanding production capacity 
for high-pressure hoses.

Financial position

Total assets declined ¥52.8 billion, to ¥473.4 
billion at fiscal year-end. That decline included 
a ¥23.9 billion decrease in investment securities, 
which occurred as weakening stock prices 
diminished unrealized gains on securities, and 
a ¥24.7 billion decrease in notes and accounts 
receivable, which reflected the decline in sales 
volume.
 Total liabilities declined ¥15.4 billion, to 
¥329.2 billion. That decline occurred as the 
decrease in sales volume resulted in a decline in 
notes and accounts payable and as deferred 
tax liabilities decreased as a result of a decline in 
unrealized gains on listed equity shares. Net 
assets declined ¥37.4 billion, to ¥144.2 billion, at 
fiscal year-end. That decline occurred as the net 
loss diminished retained earnings, as a decline of 
unrealized gains on listed equity shares 
diminished unrealized gains on securities, and as 
the appreciation of the yen resulted in a charge 
for currency translation adjustments.  

Cash flow

Net cash provided by operating activities 
declined ¥22.0 billion, to ¥19.7 billion, mainly 
because of the net loss before income taxes and 
minority interests. Net cash used in investing 
activities increased ¥5.3 billion, to ¥39.0 billion, 
reflecting investment in expanding tire 
production capacity. Free cash flow declined 
¥27.3 billion, to –¥19.3 billion. The Company used 
an increase in borrowings to offset the negative 
free cash flow and fund the dividend payments. 
Cash and cash equivalents at year-end declined 
¥3.3 billion, to ¥16.2 billion.

Fiscal outlook

Yokohama projects lower sales and improved 
profitability in the fiscal year to March 31, 2010. 
Demand for tires continues to weaken, and 
the possible appreciation of the yen weighs 
heavily on the fiscal outlook. Yokohama’s 
projections call for net sales to decline 5.3%, to 
¥490.0 billion; for operating income to increase 
32.7%, to ¥17.0 billion; and for the Company to 
post net income of ¥7.0 billion, an improvement 
of ¥12.7 billion.
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Below is a partial listing of risks that could adversely 
affect the Company’s business performance, 
financial position, or share price. All references to 
possible future events are from the standpoint of 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009. 

Economic conditions
Vehicle tires account for most of the Company’s 
worldwide revenues. Demand for those tires 
reflects economic conditions in nations and 
regions where the Company sells its products. 
Economic trends and developments that diminish 
demand in the Company’s main markets could 
adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position. 

Competition
A loss of market share caused by a deterioration 
of the Company’s competitive position or a 
decline in selling prices caused by escalating 
competition could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Exchange rates
The Company conducts most of its business 
transactions and investment in yen, but it 
conducts some transactions and investment in 
dollars and in other currencies. The Company 
hedges its exposure to currency exchange rates 
with forward exchange contracts and with other 
instruments, but that hedging cannot necessarily 
offset the full effect of fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates on the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Weather
A later-than-usual onset of winter or lighter-than-
usual snowfall could diminish demand for winter 
tires and thereby adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Raw material prices
Increases in prices for natural rubber and for 
crude oil have adversely affected the Company’s 
business performance and financial position in 
recent years, and they could have a similar effect 
in the future.

Access to funds
Instability in any of the world’s principal financial 
markets could limit the Company’s access to 

funding. In addition, a lowering of the Company’s 
credit rating by leading credit-rating agencies 
could increase the Company’s cost of funds, 
which would adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Interest rates
As of March 31, 2009, the Company’s 
interest-bearing debt was equivalent to 38.6% of 
its total assets. An increase in interest rates could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position.

Securities
The Company owns marketable securities, mainly 
Japanese equities. A decline in the value of those 
securities could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Investment
The Company is investing in expanding its tire 
production capacity, especially in Asia. Changes 
in the regulatory environment, in economic 
conditions, in industrial circumstances, or in 
political and social stability in the host nations 
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Retirement benefit obligations
The Company calculates retirement benefit 
obligations and retirement benefit expenses 
according to predetermined criteria, including 
expected returns on pension assets. If actual 
return on the Company’s pension assets declined 
substantially below the expected return, that 
could adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position. Similarly, if the 
Company revised its retirement plan in a manner 
that increased future payment obligations as a 
result of unforeseen changes in actuarial 
calculations or for any other reason, that could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position.

Natural disasters
Earthquakes and other natural disasters could 
damage the Company’s plants and other 
facilities and could limit the Company’s access to 
essential raw materials and services. That could 
adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Risk

spending totaled ¥5.3 billion. That investment 
was mainly for expanding production capacity 
for high-pressure hoses.

Financial position

Total assets declined ¥52.8 billion, to ¥473.4 
billion at fiscal year-end. That decline included 
a ¥23.9 billion decrease in investment securities, 
which occurred as weakening stock prices 
diminished unrealized gains on securities, and 
a ¥24.7 billion decrease in notes and accounts 
receivable, which reflected the decline in sales 
volume.
 Total liabilities declined ¥15.4 billion, to 
¥329.2 billion. That decline occurred as the 
decrease in sales volume resulted in a decline in 
notes and accounts payable and as deferred 
tax liabilities decreased as a result of a decline in 
unrealized gains on listed equity shares. Net 
assets declined ¥37.4 billion, to ¥144.2 billion, at 
fiscal year-end. That decline occurred as the net 
loss diminished retained earnings, as a decline of 
unrealized gains on listed equity shares 
diminished unrealized gains on securities, and as 
the appreciation of the yen resulted in a charge 
for currency translation adjustments.  

Cash flow

Net cash provided by operating activities 
declined ¥22.0 billion, to ¥19.7 billion, mainly 
because of the net loss before income taxes and 
minority interests. Net cash used in investing 
activities increased ¥5.3 billion, to ¥39.0 billion, 
reflecting investment in expanding tire 
production capacity. Free cash flow declined 
¥27.3 billion, to –¥19.3 billion. The Company used 
an increase in borrowings to offset the negative 
free cash flow and fund the dividend payments. 
Cash and cash equivalents at year-end declined 
¥3.3 billion, to ¥16.2 billion.

Fiscal outlook

Yokohama projects lower sales and improved 
profitability in the fiscal year to March 31, 2010. 
Demand for tires continues to weaken, and 
the possible appreciation of the yen weighs 
heavily on the fiscal outlook. Yokohama’s 
projections call for net sales to decline 5.3%, to 
¥490.0 billion; for operating income to increase 
32.7%, to ¥17.0 billion; and for the Company to 
post net income of ¥7.0 billion, an improvement 
of ¥12.7 billion.
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Eleven-Year Summary
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Fiscal Years Ended March 31

Millions of Yen

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 7  2 0 0 6  2 0 0 5  2 0 0 4  2 0 0 3  2 0 0 2  2 0 0 1  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9

Net sales  ¥517,263  ¥551,431  ¥497,396  ¥451,911  ¥419,789 ¥401,718  ¥400,448  ¥399,824  ¥387,855  ¥392,193  ¥401,183 

Operating income 12,808  33,119  21,070  21,947  20,955  21,073  23,184  22,701  19,845  19,043  15,809 

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests (3,166) 20,478  26,038  22,673  16,337  16,931  18,778  16,076  7,052  (13,692) 7,731 

Net income (loss) (5,654) 21,060  16,363  21,447  11,322  10,331  10,144  7,363  96  (9,009) 3,233 

Depreciation 28,684  27,238  22,166  20,491  19,616  19,199  19,040  19,247  20,083  21,922  21,141 

Capital expenditures 43,341  27,292  40,638  29,067  27,533  23,735  22,708  16,940  18,118  19,470  28,216 

R&D expenditures 15,277  15,289  14,649  14,557  14,265  13,818  12,520  12,298  11,827  11,626  13,300 

Interest-bearing debt 179,379  165,614  167,474  163,022  151,758  159,700  167,832  179,098  191,289  198,930  215,245 

Total net assets 144,159  181,538  186,528  174,609  139,534  130,622  114,719  116  114,205  96,837  107,669 

Total assets 473,376  526,192  536,322  502,014  432,717  429,350  412,626  437,771  448,130  425,927  432,457 

Per share (yen):  

Net income (loss): basic ¥(16.87) ¥  62.81  ¥  48.79  ¥  62.75  ¥  32.95  ¥  29.95  ¥  29.38  ¥  21.32  ¥    0.28  ¥ (26.30) ¥    9.44 

Net assets  417.45 525.96  542.10  508.64  398.24  373.23  327.61  334.24  328.81  276.54  309.36 

Cash dividends 10.00  13.00  12.00  10.00  8.00  8.00  8.00  6.00  — 6.00  6.00 

Key financial ratios:   

Operating margin (%) 2.5 6.0  4.2  4.9  5.0  5.2  5.8  5.7  5.1  4.9  3.9 

Return on shareholders’ equity (%) (3.6) 11.8  9.3  14.0  8.6  8.6  8.9  6.5  0.1  (9.0) 3.1 

Capital turnover (times) 1.0 1.0  1.0  1.0  1.0  1.0  0.9  0.9  0.9  0.9  0.9 

Interest-bearing debt to shareholders’ equity (times) 1.3 0.9  0.9  1.0  1.1  1.2  1.5  1.6  1.7  2.1  2.0 

Interest coverage (times) 4.3 9.0  7.0  10.1  11.2  9.2  7.9  4.9  3.5  3.7  2.7

Number of employees 16,772  16,099  15,423  14,617  13,464  13,264  12,979  13,130  13,362  13,764  12,107 
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Operating margin (%) 2.5 6.0  4.2  4.9  5.0  5.2  5.8  5.7  5.1  4.9  3.9 

Return on shareholders’ equity (%) (3.6) 11.8  9.3  14.0  8.6  8.6  8.9  6.5  0.1  (9.0) 3.1 

Capital turnover (times) 1.0 1.0  1.0  1.0  1.0  1.0  0.9  0.9  0.9  0.9  0.9 

Interest-bearing debt to shareholders’ equity (times) 1.3 0.9  0.9  1.0  1.1  1.2  1.5  1.6  1.7  2.1  2.0 

Interest coverage (times) 4.3 9.0  7.0  10.1  11.2  9.2  7.9  4.9  3.5  3.7  2.7

Number of employees 16,772  16,099  15,423  14,617  13,464  13,264  12,979  13,130  13,362  13,764  12,107 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2009 and 2008

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

Assets 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents  ¥  16,239  ¥  19,530  $   165,317 

Time deposits 35  59  360 

Trade receivables:

 Notes and accounts (Note 6) 91,103  115,776  927,450 

Inventories (Note 3) 86,976  84,231  885,435 

Deferred income taxes (Note 13) 8,240  8,354  83,889 

Other current assets 9,912  8,640  100,899

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,008) (1,352) (10,261)

  Total current assets 211,497  235,238  2,153,089

Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost (Notes 4, 5 and 9):

Land   34,778  36,079  354,050 

Buildings and structures 134,710  130,805  1,371,370 

Machinery and equipment 390,334  389,591  3,973,672 

Leased assets 1,484  —  15,108 

Construction in progress 14,632  11,692  148,961 

    575,938  568,167  5,863,161

Less accumulated depreciation (381,644) (374,640) (3,885,211)

  Total property, plant and equipment, net 194,294  193,527  1,977,950

Investments and Other Assets:

Investment securities (Note 10) 43,869  67,781  446,596 

Long-term loans receivable 629  843  6,398 

Deferred income taxes (Note 13) 9,116  9,093  92,806 

Other investments and other assets 15,546  20,866  158,255

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,575) (1,156) (16,031)

  Total investments and other assets 67,585  97,427  688,024

  Total  assets ¥473,376  ¥526,192  $4,819,063

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

Liabilities and Net Assets 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Current Liabilities:
Bank loans ¥  77,649  ¥  81,598  $   790,479 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 4) 15,538  17,376  158,176 
Commercial paper 19,000   1,000  193,424 
Trade notes and accounts payable 71,385  87,136  726,708 
Accrued income taxes 1,608  3,845  16,373 
Accrued expenses 29,791  29,725  303,281
Other current liabilities (Note 13) 12,365  14,547  125,880

  Total current liabilities 227,336  235,227  2,314,321

Long-Term Liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 4) 67,193  65,640  684,038 
Deferred income taxes (Note 13) 1,463  9,811  14,895 
Reserve for pension and severance payments (Note 12) 17,448  18,510  177,627
Other long-term liabilities 15,777  15,466  160,612

  Total long-term liabilities 101,881  109,427  1,037,172

  Total liabilities 329,217  344,654  3,351,493

Contingent liabilities (Note 6) 

Net Assets
Shareholders' Equity:
Common stock:
 Authorized: 700,000,000 shares in 2009 and 2008
 Issued: 342,598,162 shares in 2009 and 2008  38,909  38,909  396,102 
Capital surplus  31,953  31,953  325,287 
Retained earnings (Note 8)  83,273  94,856  847,733
Treasury stock, at cost: 7,408,825 shares in 2009 and 7,352,359 shares in 2008 (4,700) (4,681) (47,846)

  Total shareholders' equity  149,435  161,037  1,521,276

Valuation and Translation Adjustments:
 Unrealized gains on securities  7,966  19,332  81,101
 Foreign currency translation adjustments (17,478) (4,045) (177,930)

  Total valuation and translation adjustments (9,512) 15,287  (96,829)

Minority Interests:  4,236  5,214   43,123

  Total net assets  144,159  181,538  1,467,570

  Total liabilities and net assets ¥473,376  ¥526,192  $4,819,063
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the Years Ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

    2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 7  2 0 0 9

Net sales  ¥517,263  ¥551,431  ¥497,396  $5,265,834

Cost of sales (Notes 5 and 7) 368,933  381,447  350,978  3,755,807

Gross profit 148,330  169,984  146,418  1,510,027

 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 5 and 7) 135,522  136,865  125,348  1,379,638

Operating income 12,808  33,119  21,070  130,389 

Other income (expenses)

 Interest and dividend income 2,053  1,921  1,714  20,900 

 Interest expense (3,479) (3,898) (3,247) (35,419)

 Other, net (14,548) (10,664) 6,501  (148,097)

    (15,974) (12,641) 4,968  (162,616)

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests (3,166) 20,478  26,038  (32,227)

Income taxes (Notes 2 and 13):

 Current 2,975  5,334  2,735  30,291

 Deferred (911) (6,373) 6,505  (9,270)

    2,064  (1,039) 9,240  21,021 

Minority interests in net income of 
  consolidated subsidiaries (424) (457) (435) (4,313)

Net income (loss) ¥   (5,654) ¥  21,060  ¥  16,363  $    (57,561)

  U.S. Dollars 

Per Share Amounts: Yen (Note 1)

Net income (loss): basic ¥ (16.87) ¥ 62.81  ¥ 48.79  $ (0.17)

Net income: diluted — — — —

Cash dividends ¥ 10.00  ¥ 13.00  ¥ 12.00  $ 0.10

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the Years Ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

 Millions of Yen

       Valuation 
 Shares of     Total and 
 Common Common Capital Retained Treasury Shareholders’ Translation Minority Total 
 Stock Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Equity Adjustments Interests Net Assets

Balance at March 31, 2006 342,598,162  ¥38,909  ¥31,953  ¥67,439  ¥(4,526) ¥133,775  ¥36,900  ¥3,934  ¥174,609 

 Adjustment for excess of additional pension 

  liability over unrecognized prior service cost — — — (337) — (337) — — (337)

 Net income — — — 16,363  — 16,363  — — 16,363 

 Cash dividends paid — — — (3,354) — (3,354) — — (3,354)

 Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors — — — (48) — (48) — — (48)

 Increase in retained earnings due to merger — — — 2  — 2  — — 2 

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net  — — — — (74) (74) — — (74)

 Valuation and translation adjustments

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — — (3,920) — (3,920)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — 2,480  — 2,480

 Increase (decrease) in minority interests — — — — — — — 807  807

Balance at March 31, 2007 342,598,162  38,909  31,953  80,065  (4,600) 146,327  35,460  4,741  186,528 

 Adjustment for employee benefit obligations 
  in overseas subsidiaries — — — (1,557) — (1,557) — — (1,557)

 Net income — — — 21,060  — 21,060  — — 21,060 

 Cash dividends paid — — — (4,694) — (4,694) — — (4,694)

 Increase in retained earnings due to merger — — — 114  — 114  — — 114 

 Decrease in retained earnings due to change 
  in accounting policies in overseas subsidiaries — — — (132) — (132) — — (132)

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net  — — — (0) (81) (81) — — (81)

 Valuation and translation adjustments

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — — (20,303) — (20,303)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — 130  — 130

 Increase (decrease) in minority interests — — — — — — — 473  473

Balance at March 31, 2008 342,598,162 38,909 31,953 94,856 (4,681) 161,037 15,287 5,214 181,538

 Effect of changes in accounting policies 
  applied to overseas subsidiaries — — — (163) — (163) — — (163)

 Adjustment for employee benefit obligations  
  in overseas subsidiaries — — — (1,398) — (1,398) — — (1,398)

 Net income — — — (5,654) — (5,654) — — (5,654)

 Cash dividends paid — — — (4,358) — (4,358) — — (4,358)

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net  — — — (10) (19) (29) — — (29)

 Valuation and translation adjustments

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — — (11,366) — (11,366)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — (13,433) — (13,433)

 Increase (decrease) in minority interests — — — — — — — (978) (978)

Balance at March 31, 2009 342,598,162 ¥38,909 ¥31,953 ¥83,273 ¥(4,700) ¥149,435 ¥(9,512) ¥4,236 ¥144,159
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 Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

         Valuation 
        Total and 
    Common Capital Retained Treasury Shareholders’ Translation Minority Total 
    Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Equity Adjustments Interests Net Assets

Balance at March 31, 2008 $396,102  $325,287  $965,652  $(47,650) $1,639,391  $155,624  $53,081  $1,848,096 

 Effect of changes in accounting policies 
  applied to overseas subsidiaries — — (1,657) — (1,657) — — (1,657)

 Adjustment for employee benefit obligations 
  in overseas subsidiaries — — (14,235) — (14,235) — — (14,235)

 Net income — — (57,561) — (57,561) — — (57,561)

 Cash dividends paid — — (44,365) — (44,365) — — (44,365)

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net  — — (101) (196) (297) — — (297)

 Valuation and translation adjustments
  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — (115,706) — (115,706)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — (136,747) — (136,747)

 Increase (decrease) in minority interests — — — — — — (9,958) (9,958)

Balance at March 31, 2009 $396,102  $325,287  $847,733  $(47,846) $1,521,276  $(96,829) $43,123  $1,467,570 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the Years Ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 7  2 0 0 9

Operating Activities:

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests ¥  (3,166) ¥ 20,478  ¥26,038  $  (32,227) 

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and  
  minority interests to net cash provided by operating activities:

 Depreciation (Notes 2 and 5) 28,684  27,238  22,166  292,008 

 Reserve for pension and severance payments (1,052) (1,930) (1,327) (10,711)

 Gain on sale of investment securities (303) (168) (6,435) (3,080)

 Loss on revaluation of investment securities  2,914   3,472   —   29,667 

 Other, net 5,210  3,136  1,244  53,040 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

 Trade notes and accounts receivable 18,140  (7,568) (6,061) 184,669 

 Inventories (12,618) (5,473) (7,425) (128,458)

 Notes and accounts payable (9,413) 1,418  13,450  (95,828)

 Other, net (759) 7,072  (1,182) (7,728)

Interest and dividends received 2,175  1,904  1,680  22,143 

Interest paid (3,488) (3,920) (3,067) (35,513)

Income taxes paid (6,445) (4,010) (2,343) (65,610)

Compensation for damage paid (188)  —   —  (1,915)

  Net cash provided by operating activities 19,691  41,649  36,738  200,457 

Investing Activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (42,041) (28,535) (37,464) (427,989)

Purchases of marketable securities and investment securities (2,213) (5,654) (6,292) (22,525)

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities, 
 investment securities and property 2,234  564  8,437  22,739 

Proceeds from redemption of investment securities 2,000   —   —  20,360 

Other, net  989  (110) 197  10,067

  Net cash used in investing activities (39,031) (33,735) (35,122) (397,348)

Financing Activities:

Increase (decrease) in short-term bank loans 761  18,916  (6,049) 7,747 

Increase (decrease) in commercial paper  18,000   —  (12,000)  183,243 

Proceeds from long-term debt 7,439  4,022  38,806  75,728 

Decrease in long-term debt (4,708) (25,894) (18,329) (47,926)

Proceeds from issuance of bonds 10,000   —   —  101,802 

Redemption of bonds (10,000)  —   —  (101,802)

Payment of cash dividends (4,357) (4,694) (3,357) (44,356)

Other, net  (397) 3,642  (79) (4,039) 

  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,738  (4,008) (1,008) 170,397

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2,922) 340  (53) (29,751) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,524) 4,246  555  (56,245)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  19,530  14,812  14,290  198,824 

Effect of changes in consolidation scope on 
 cash and cash equivalents 2,233  472  (33) 22,738 

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  ¥16,239  ¥19,530  ¥14,812  $165,317 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1. Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. (the “Company”), and its 
domestic consolidated subsidiaries were prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted in 
Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the 
Company as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan. The Company’s subsidiaries in the 
United States of America (the “USA”) prepared their financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the USA.
 In preparing these statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the 
consolidated financial statements prepared domestically in order to present these statements in a form that is more 
familiar to readers outside Japan. In addition, the accompanying notes include additional information that is not 
required under accounting principles and practices generally accepted in Japan.
 The U.S. dollar amounts included herein are solely for the convenience of the reader and have been translated 
from the Japanese yen amounts at the rate of ¥98.23 = US$1.00, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on 
March 31, 2009.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a. Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its significant 
majority-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries (together, the “Companies”). Investment in significant 
unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies (companies owned 20% to 50%) is accounted for by the 
equity method.
 All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The excess of the 
cost of the Companies’ investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies over their equity in the net assets at the 
dates of acquisition was not material and was fully written off when acquired.

b. Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the year-end spot rates. The resulting exchange gains 
and losses are charged or credited to income.
 The assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries outside Japan are translated at the fiscal year-end rates 
of those companies, and the income and expense accounts of those companies are translated at the average 
rates of those companies.
 Differences arising from such translation are recorded in foreign currency translation adjustments and minority 
interests in net assets.

c. Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months 
or less are considered cash equivalents.

d. Marketable Securities and Investment Securities
Securities classified as available for sale and whose fair value is readily determinable are carried at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses included as a component of net assets, net of applicable taxes. Costs are determined by 
the moving average method.
 Securities whose fair value is not readily determinable are carried at cost. Costs are determined by the moving 
average method.

e. Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments whose fair value is readily determinable are carried at fair value.
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f. Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost determined by the moving average method, except that the finished products of 
certain domestic subsidiaries are valued by the most recent purchase price method and inventories of certain 
foreign subsidiaries are valued at the lower of cost based on the first-in first-out method or market. The book value of 
inventories of the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries reflects a write-down due to declines in 
profitability.
 Effective as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries 
have adopted the “Accounting Standard for Measurement of Inventories” (the Accounting Standards Board of 
Japan [“ASBJ”] statement No. 9, July 5, 2006). This change had the effect of increasing loss before income taxes and 
minority interests by ¥626 million ($6,372 thousand).

g. Allowance for Doubtful Receivables
The allowance for doubtful receivables is provided at an estimated amount of probable bad debts plus an amount 
based on past credit loss experience.

h. Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed principally by the declining-balance method based on 
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.
 Following  a revision of the Corporation Tax Law of Japan, the Company and its domestic consolidated 
subsidiaries reviewed the economic useful lives of tangible fixed assets and changed the estimated useful lives of 
the respective assets in accordance with the revised law.
 This change had the effect of increasing loss before income taxes and minority interests by ¥850 million ($8,661 
thousand).

i. Reserve for Severance Payments and Employee Benefit Plans
Employees who terminate their service with the Companies are, under most circumstances, entitled to lump-sum 
severance payments determined by reference to their current basic rate of pay and length of service. The 
Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries have noncontributory pension plans for termination caused by age 
limit.
 The Companies accounted for these liabilities based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the 
balance sheet date.
 Unrecognized actuarial gain and loss are amortized starting in the year following the year in which the gain or 
loss is recognized primarily by the straight-line method over a period of 10 years, which is shorter than the average 
remaining service period of employees.
 Unrecognized prior service cost is amortized by the straight-line method over 10 years.
 In addition to providing pension and severance benefits, certain foreign subsidiaries sponsor several unfunded 
defined benefit postretirement plans that provide certain health care and life insurance benefits to eligible 
employees and, in 1993, adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” (SFAS No. 106).
 Additionally, on December 31, 2007, those subsidiaries adopted SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Defined Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—an Amendment of Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).”

j. Income Taxes
Income taxes in Japan comprise a corporate tax, an enterprise tax and prefectural and municipal inhabitants’ 
taxes.
 Provision is made for deferred income taxes arising from temporary differences between assets or liabilities for 
financial and tax reporting purposes.

k. Revenue Recognition
Sales of products are recognized upon product shipments to customers.

l. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred.

m. Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the average 
number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted net income per share is not disclosed because 
there were no dilutive securities in the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007.
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n. Others
(1) Adoption of the “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions”
Finance leases that do not involve the transfer of ownership of the leased assets had been accounted for as 
operating leases, and those started on or before March 31, 2008, continue to be accounted for as operating leases. 
However, effective as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the Company and its domestic consolidated 
subsidiaries have adopted the “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” (ASBJ statement No. 13, revised on 
March 30, 2007) and the “Guidance for Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” (ASBJ guidance No. 16, 
revised on March 30, 2007), and finance leases that do not involve the transfer of ownership of the leased assets are 
now accounted for by the method for ordinary sales transactions. 
 The effect of this change on loss before income taxes and minority interests was immaterial.
(2) Adoption of the “Practical Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for 
Consolidated Financial Statements”
Effective as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the Company adopted the “Practical Solution on Unification of 
Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Practical Issues Task 
Force No. 18, May 17, 2006) and made requisite adjustments. The effect of this change on loss before income taxes 
and minority interests was immaterial.

3. Inventories
Inventories at March 31, 2009 and 2008, consisted of the following:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Finished products ¥61,392 ¥59,195 $624,986

Work-in-process 8,588 11,091 87,430

Raw materials and supplies 16,996 13,944 173,019

 ¥86,976 ¥84,231 $885,435

4. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at March 31, 2009 and 2008, consisted of the following:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

0.62% straight bonds due 2008 ¥        — ¥10,000 $           0

0.84% straight bonds due 2010 10,000 10,000 101,802

1.688% straight bonds due 2013 10,000 10,000 101,802

1.68% straight bonds due 2014 10,000 —  101,802

Loans, principally from banks and insurance companies 52,731 53,016 536,808

 82,731 83,016 842,214

Less current maturities 15,538 17,376 158,176

 ¥67,193 ¥65,640 $684,038

Assets pledged to secure bank loans and long-term debt at March 31, 2009 and 2008, were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Property, plant and equipment ¥65,028 ¥66,001 $661,993
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5. Depreciation
Depreciation charges were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 7  2 0 0 9

Selling, general and administrative expenses ¥  3,137 ¥  3,370 ¥  2,970 $  31,938

Manufacturing costs ¥25,547 ¥23,868 ¥19,196 $260,070

6. Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities at March 31, 2009 and 2008, were as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Notes discounted and endorsed ¥   367 ¥   659 $  3,739

Guarantees ¥1,248 ¥5,755 $12,703

7. Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses charged to manufacturing costs and selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 were ¥15,277 million ($155,530 thousand), ¥15,289 
million and ¥14,649 million, respectively.

8. Retained Earnings and Dividends
The amount of retained earnings available for dividends under the Corporate Law of Japan is based on the amount 
stated in the nonconsolidated financial statements of the Company. Dividends are approved by the shareholders 
at a meeting held subsequent to the fiscal year to which the dividends are applicable.

9. Leases
Leased assets under finance lease agreements include molds and warehouse equipment. Depreciation of leased 
assets is computed by the straight-line method over the term of the leases. 

Future rental payments under noncancellable operating leases were as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Within one year ¥   773 ¥1,132 $  7,869

After one year 3,501 5,363 35,636

 ¥4,274 ¥6,495 $43,505
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10. Securities
Cost, carrying amount and unrealized gains and losses pertaining to available-for-sale securities at March 31, 2009 
and 2008, were as follows:  

 Millions of Yen

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8

  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized  
 Cost Amount Gains Losses Cost Amount Gains Losses

Securities classified as             

     Available for sale:

  Stock ¥26,501 ¥39,860 ¥16,127 ¥(2,768) ¥29,069 ¥61,460 ¥32,816 ¥(425)

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9

  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized 
 Cost Amount Gains Losses

Securities classified as              
     Available for sale:

  Stock $269,789 $405,785 $164,180 $(28,184)

 Sales of securities classified as available-for-sale securities amounted to ¥1,050 million ($10,688 thousand), with an 
aggregate gain of ¥302 million ($3,080 thousand), for the year ended March 31, 2009. 
 The corresponding amounts for the year ended March 31, 2008, were ¥277 million and ¥146 million.

11. Derivative instruments
Fair value information of derivative instruments at March 31, 2009 and 2008, was as follows:

 Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

    2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

    Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized 
    Amount Fair Value Losses Amount Fair Value Gains Amount Fair Value Losses

Forward exchange 
 contracts:

 Euro  ¥5,660 ¥  5,818 ¥(158) ¥3,580 ¥3,547 ¥  33 $  57,618 $  59,224 $(1,606)

 U.S. dollar 2,908 2,978 (71) 2,427 2,323 104 29,600 30,320 (720)

 Others  1,422 1,507 (84) 2,159 2,025 134  14,478 15,337 (859) 

    ¥9,990 ¥10,303 ¥(313) ¥8,166 ¥7,896 ¥270 $101,696 $104,881 $(3,185)

 Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

    2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

    Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized 
    Amount Fair Value Losses Amount Fair Value losses Amount Fair Value Losses

Interest rate swap 
 agreements ¥41 ¥(1) ¥(1) ¥49 ¥(1) ¥(1) $417 $(7) $(7)

    ¥— ¥(1) ¥(1) ¥— ¥(1) ¥(1) $   — $(7) $(7)
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12. Pension and Severance Plans
a.  The projected benefit obligations, plan assets and composition of amounts recognized in the consolidated 

balance sheets at March 31, 2009 and 2008, were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Projected benefit obligations ¥(30,732) ¥(31,634) $(312,857)

Fair value of plan assets 8,679 12,057 88,357

Funded status (22,053) (19,577) (224,500)

Unrecognized actuarial gain and loss 3,958 321 40,291

Unrecognized prior service cost 647 746 6,583

Net amount recognized ¥(17,448) ¥(18,510) $(177,626)

b.  The components of net pension and severance costs for the years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, were as 
follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Service cost ¥1,851 ¥1,839 $18,849

Interest cost 626 648 6,374

Expected return on plan assets — — —

Recognized actuarial gains 194 (526) 1,972

Recognized prior service cost 100 100 1,014

Net periodic benefit cost 2,771 2,061 28,209

Contribution of defined contribution benefit plan 502  513  5,116

 ¥3,273 ¥2,574 $33,325

c. Assumptions used as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, were as follows :

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8

Discount rate 2.5% 2.5%

Expected return rate on plan assets  0.00% 0.00%
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13. Deferred Income Taxes
a. Significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2009 and 2008, were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8  2 0 0 9

Deferred tax assets:

 Liabilities for pension and severance payments ¥11,806 ¥12,250 $120,190

 Net operating loss carryforwards 7,533 5,210 76,689

 Unrealized profits 4,073 4,278 41,458

 Accrued expenses 2,353 2,536 23,957

 Loss on revaluation of investment securities 128 1,632 1,306

 Other  8,343 6,796 84,934

  Gross deferred tax assets 34,236 32,702 348,534

 Less valuation allowance (4,434) (3,361) (45,139)

  Total deferred tax assets 29,802 29,341 303,395

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Unrealized gains on securities (5,350) (13,032) (54,466)

 Liabilities for pension and severance payments (3,446) (3,446) (35,086)

 Gain on receipt of stock set by pension plan (2,103) (3,155) (21,406)

 Property, plant and equipment (1,775) (1,799) (18,073)

 Other  (1,284) (337) (13,070)

  Total deferred tax liabilities (13,958) (21,769) (142,101)

   Net deferred tax assets ¥15,844 ¥  7,572 $161,294

b. A reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate was as follows:

 Years ended March 31

 2 0 0 9  2 0 0 8

Statutory income tax rate in Japan 40.3% 40.3%

Valuation allowance for net operating loss carryforwards (63.2) (15.2)

Permanently nondeductible expenses (13.1) 2.9  

Permanently nontaxable income 11.7  (1.8)

Valuation allowance (33.9) (29.1)

Other   (7.0) (2.2)

Effective income tax rate (65.2)% (5.1)%



F i n a n c i a l  S e c t i o n    41

14. Segment Information 
The business and geographical segment information and overseas sales for the Companies for the years ended 
March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, are outlined as follows:

Business Segments
 Millions of Yen 

     Multiple  Eliminations 
    Tires Business Total and Corporate Consolidated

 Year ended March 31, 2009

Sales to third parties ¥399,729 ¥117,534 ¥517,263 ¥         — ¥517,263

Intergroup sales and transfers 73 19,113 19,186 (19,186) —

Total sales  399,802 136,647 536,449 (19,186) 517,263

Operating expenses 389,912 133,228 523,140 (18,685) 504,455

Operating income ¥    9,890 ¥    3,419 ¥  13,309 ¥     (501) ¥  12,808

Total assets at end of year ¥362,011 ¥132,867 ¥494,878 ¥(21,502) ¥473,376

Depreciation ¥  23,669 ¥    4,615 ¥  28,284 ¥      400 ¥  28,684

Capital expenditures ¥  38,425 ¥    5,309 ¥  43,734 ¥     (393) ¥  43,341

 Year ended March 31, 2008

Sales to third parties ¥419,834 ¥131,597 ¥551,431 ¥         — ¥551,431

Intergroup sales and transfers 83 12,478 12,561 (12,561) —

Total sales  419,917 144,075 563,992 (12,561) 551,431

Operating expenses 393,867 137,030 530,897 (12,585) 518,312

Operating income ¥  26,050 ¥    7,045 ¥  33,095 ¥         24 ¥  33,119

Total assets at end of year ¥397,181 ¥146,727 ¥543,908 ¥(17,716) ¥526,192

Depreciation ¥  22,455 ¥    4,214 ¥  26,669 ¥      569 ¥  27,238

Capital expenditures ¥  23,064 ¥    3,776 ¥  26,840 ¥      452 ¥  27,292

 Year ended March 31, 2007

Sales to third parties ¥372,708 ¥124,688 ¥497,396 ¥         — ¥497,396

Intergroup sales and transfers 86 22,307 22,393 (22,393) —

Total sales  372,794 146,995 519,789 (22,393) 497,396

Operating expenses 358,124 140,197 498,321 (21,995) 476,326

Operating income ¥  14,670 ¥    6,798 ¥  21,468 ¥     (398) ¥  21,070

Total assets at end of year ¥386,765 ¥147,018 ¥533,783 ¥   2,539 ¥536,322

Depreciation ¥  17,823 ¥    4,041 ¥  21,864 ¥      302 ¥  22,166

Capital expenditures ¥  37,021 ¥    3,486 ¥  40,507 ¥      131 ¥  40,638

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

     Multiple  Eliminations 
    Tires Business Total and Corporate Consolidated

 Year ended March 31, 2009

Sales to third parties $4,069,313 $1,196,521 $5,265,834 $           — $5,265,834

Intergroup sales and transfers 740 194,578 195,318 (195,318) —

Total sales  4,070,053 1,391,099 5,461,152 (195,318) 5,265,834

Operating expenses 3,969,371 1,356,296 5,325,667 (190,222) 5,135,445

Operating income $   100,682 $     34,803 $   135,485 $    (5,096) $   130,389

Total assets at end of year $3,685,342 $1,352,617 $5,037,959 $(218,896) $4,819,063

Depreciation $   240,951 $     46,984 $   287,935 $      4,073 $   292,008

Capital expenditures $   391,171 $     54,044 $   445,215 $    (3,999) $   441,216
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Geographical Areas
 Millions of Yen 

     North    Eliminations 
    Japan America Asia Other Total and Corporate Consolidated

 Year ended March 31, 2009

Sales to third parties ¥359,319 ¥101,789 ¥23,640 ¥32,515 ¥517,263 ¥           — ¥517,263

Inter-area sales and transfers 71,154 392 40,849 —  112,395 (112,395) —

Total sales  430,473 102,181 64,489 32,515 629,658 (112,395) 517,263

Operating expenses 426,031 98,144 62,495 30,972 617,642 (113,187) 504,455

Operating income  ¥    4,442 ¥    4,037 ¥  1,994 ¥  1,543 ¥  12,016 ¥         792 ¥  12,808

Total assets at end of year ¥388,034 ¥  57,586 ¥72,170 ¥14,204 ¥531,994 ¥  (58,618) ¥473,376

 Year ended March 31, 2008

Sales to third parties ¥387,217 ¥111,995 ¥22,993 ¥29,226 ¥551,431 ¥           — ¥551,431

Inter-area sales and transfers 67,226 1,062 34,680 — 102,968 (102,968) —

Total sales  454,443 113,057 57,673 29,226 654,399 (102,968) 551,431

Operating expenses 431,543 106,343 54,879 28,179 620,944 (102,632) 518,312

Operating income  ¥  22,900 ¥    6,714 ¥  2,794 ¥  1,047 ¥  33,455 ¥       (336) ¥  33,119

Total assets at end of year ¥416,023 ¥  70,574 ¥74,548 ¥17,450 ¥578,595 ¥  (52,403) ¥526,192

 Year ended March 31, 2007

Sales to third parties ¥369,741 ¥  98,137 ¥13,897 ¥15,621 ¥497,396 ¥         — ¥497,396

Inter-area sales and transfers 56,808 977 18,752 — 76,537 (76,537) —

Total sales  426,549 99,114 32,649 15,621 573,933 (76,537) 497,396

Operating expenses 409,079 95,309 32,526 15,227 552,141 (75,815) 476,326

Operating income  ¥  17,470 ¥    3,805 ¥     123 ¥     394 ¥  21,792 ¥     (722) ¥  21,070

Total assets at end of year ¥427,123 ¥  60,190 ¥62,542 ¥10,292 ¥560,147 ¥(23,825) ¥536,322

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

     North    Eliminations 
    Japan America Asia Other Total and Corporate Consolidated

 Year ended March 31, 2009

Sales to third parties $3,657,935 $1,036,234 $240,659 $331,006 $5,265,834 $              — $5,265,834

Inter-area sales and transfers 724,362 3,993 415,851 — 1,144,206 (1,144,206) —

Total sales  4,382,297 1,040,227 656,510 331,006 6,410,040 (1,144,206) 5,265,834

Operating expenses 4,337,082 999,131 636,204 315,298 6,287,715 (1,152,270) 5,135,445

Operating income $     45,215 $    41,096 $  20,306 $  15,708 $   122,325 $        8,064 $   130,389

Total assets at end of year $3,950,255 $  586,238 $734,703 $144,604 $5,415,800 $   (596,737) $4,819,063
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Overseas Sales
 Millions of Yen 

    North America Other Total
 Year ended March 31, 2009

(A) Overseas sales ¥105,040 ¥122,733 ¥227,773

(B) Consolidated net sales   ¥517,263

(C) (A) / (B) × 100 20.3% 23.7% 44.0%

 Year ended March 31, 2008

(A) Overseas sales ¥117,109 ¥125,817 ¥242,926

(B) Consolidated net sales   ¥551,431

(C) (A) / (B) × 100 21.2% 22.8% 44.1%

 Year ended March 31, 2007

(A) Overseas sales ¥104,075 ¥93,086 ¥197,161

(B) Consolidated net sales   ¥497,396

(C) (A) / (B) × 100 20.9% 18.7% 39.6%

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

    North America Other Total
 Year ended March 31, 2009

(A) Overseas sales $1,069,325 $1,249,443 $2,318,768

(B) Consolidated net sales   $5,265,834

(C) (A) / (B) × 100 20.3% 23.7% 44.0%
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and 
consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended March 31, 2009, expressed in Japanese yen. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, expressed in Japanese 
yen, present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of The Yokohama Rubber Co., 
Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries at March 31, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2009, 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to 
the year ended March 31, 2009 are presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included 
the translation of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such 
translation has been made on the basis described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

June 26, 2009

Certified Public Accountants
Hibiya Kokusai Bldg.
2-2-3, Uchisaiwai-cho
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0011 
C.P.O. Box 1196, Tokyo 100-8641

Phone: 03-3503-1100
Fax: 03-3503-1197
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Corporate Governance

A strengthened commitment to fulfilling corporate 
social responsibility

Fulfilling corporate social responsibility is essential 
to earning a welcome place in the community. 
Yokohama established its Corporate Social 
Responsibility Division in June 2008 to promote 
social sustainability through economic, 
environmental, and community initiatives. The 
division evokes Yokohama’s commitment to 
building an identity as a contributing member of 
the global community. That means stepping up 
measures to ensure rigorous adherence to laws 
and regulations, to maximize Yokohama’s 
contribution to environmental quality, to carry out 
sound corporate governance, to undertake 
prudent risk management, and to deploy a solid 
framework of internal-control mechanisms. 

Corporate governance policy

Yokohama has built a framework for corporate 
governance aimed at ensuring responsible, 
effective, and transparent management based 
on its corporate philosophy, and the Company 
continues working to strengthen that framework. 
Sound corporate governance is central to 
Yokohama’s efforts to maximize corporate value 
and to earn and retain the confidence of all the 
Company’s stakeholders. 

Framework

The members of the Board of Directors agree on 
policy for maintaining the internal-control 

mechanisms mandated by Japanese law, they 
discuss matters of importance in company 
management, and they monitor each other’s 
performance. The Management Council, which 
comprises the chairman and other selected 
members of the Board of Directors and other 
executives, reviews overall operational policy, 
matters crucial to the performance of work, and 
matters crucial to risk management from the 
perspective of fundamental management policy. 
 Auditing at Yokohama is a tripartite 
undertaking by the Board of Corporate Auditors, 
by an independent public accounting firm, and 
by the Audit Office. The Board of Corporate 
Auditors monitors the performance of the 
members of the Board of Directors. The 
independent public accounting firm monitors the 
Company’s financial accounting, and the Audit 
Office monitors operations and accounting at the 
parent company and at subsidiaries. 

Internal-control mechanisms

The Board of Directors passed a resolution in May 
2006 that called for establishing the internal-
control mechanisms mandated by Japanese law 
and for monitoring the performance of those 
mechanisms. In April 2009, the Board of Directors 
passed a resolution that called for instituting 
measures for preventing corporate involvement 
in racketeering and other illicit activity. 
 Legislation took effect in Japan in the 
fiscal year to March 31, 2010, that is similar to the 
U.S. Public Company Accounting Reform and 
Investor Protection Act of 2002, commonly known    

Yokohama’s Framework for Corporate Governance
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Remuneration Committee
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as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Yokohama has 
established internal-control mechanisms to help 
ensure compliance with that legislation and with 
other laws and regulations. 

Risk-management system

Yokohama’s Risk Management Committee is 
responsible for coordinating a swift and effective 
response to emergencies. The committee also 
evaluates significant risks from a cross-sector 
perspective and determines appropriate 
measures for addressing those risks.
 A recent example of an emergency that 
commanded attention at Yokohama was the 
2009 outbreak of swine influenza A(H1N1). In April 
2009, the World Health Organization raised its 
warning level for swine influenza to Phase IV. That 
prompted Yokohama to establish a response 
team under the leadership of the president. The 
Company has abided by a policy of preventing 
any infected employee from transmitting the 
disease to people inside or outside the Company 
and of ensuring the continuance of business 
operations. It has specified preventive 
procedures for employees to abide by when 
traveling on business and when taking up 
overseas assignments, and it has instituted 
preventive measures at the entrances to all 
company facilities in Japan. In addition, the 
Company is responding promptly to incidences of 
the disease in the workplace, in employee 
families, and in the community. 
  Yokohama has devised 
plan-do-check-act cycles for responding to 
foreseeable risks. Its risk-management 
encompasses workplace safety, earthquake 
preparedness, fire prevention and preparedness, 
ethical compliance, environmental protection, 
product quality, and operational continuity. The 
committees, divisions, and other organizational 
units responsible for those and other facets of risk 
management work out appropriate measures for 
addressing risk and oversee the implementation 
of those measures. 

Ethical compliance

Basic approach
Yokohama is committed to ensuring compliance 
with rigorous standards of corporate ethics. The 
Company works systematically to ingrain that 
commitment in its corporate culture and in its 

daily operations. That includes building and 
maintaining an effective framework for 
enforcement, encouraging employees to report 
suspected breaches, and emphasizing corporate 
ethics in employee education and in 
awareness-raising activities. 

Ethical-enforcement framework
Each sector of operations at the parent company 
and each subsidiary has named a compliance 
monitor as part of a compliance-assurance 
network. The monitors exchange information 
about awareness-raising activities, about 
performance in complying with ethical 
guidelines, and about incidents of note. 
 
Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee, chaired by 
Yokohama’s president, meets quarterly. It reviews 
activity in ethics-related education, reports from 
the Company’s divisions, and notifications and 
input from employees about ethical concerns, 
and it considers measures for preventing ethical 
breaches. Yokohama’s Corporate Compliance 
Department serves as the secretariat for the 
committee.

Internal channels for reporting suspected 
violations
<Hotline>
Yokohama has established a hotline that enables 
employees at the parent company and at 
subsidiaries in Japan to report suspected 
violations of legal regulations or corporate 
guidelines anonymously. The hotline is in 
conformance with Japanese legislation that 
mandates protection for “whistleblowers.” It 
allows employees to report suspected violations 
to an independent legal office by telephone, fax, 
or e-mail. Yokohama has distributed cards that 
bear the telephone number, fax number, and 
e-mail address to all employees at the parent 
company and its subsidiaries in Japan. 

<Consultation>
Yokohama has established an internal e-mail 
function to respond to employee doubts or 
suspicions about any company-related subjects. 
The consultation function is available to everyone 
who has access to internal e-mail at Yokohama in 
Japan. Employees can use the consultation 
function to discuss the legality or propriety of any 
ongoing or proposed activity. 
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as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Yokohama has 
established internal-control mechanisms to help 
ensure compliance with that legislation and with 
other laws and regulations. 

Risk-management system

Yokohama’s Risk Management Committee is 
responsible for coordinating a swift and effective 
response to emergencies. The committee also 
evaluates significant risks from a cross-sector 
perspective and determines appropriate 
measures for addressing those risks.
 A recent example of an emergency that 
commanded attention at Yokohama was the 
2009 outbreak of swine influenza A(H1N1). In April 
2009, the World Health Organization raised its 
warning level for swine influenza to Phase IV. That 
prompted Yokohama to establish a response 
team under the leadership of the president. The 
Company has abided by a policy of preventing 
any infected employee from transmitting the 
disease to people inside or outside the Company 
and of ensuring the continuance of business 
operations. It has specified preventive 
procedures for employees to abide by when 
traveling on business and when taking up 
overseas assignments, and it has instituted 
preventive measures at the entrances to all 
company facilities in Japan. In addition, the 
Company is responding promptly to incidences of 
the disease in the workplace, in employee 
families, and in the community. 
  Yokohama has devised 
plan-do-check-act cycles for responding to 
foreseeable risks. Its risk-management 
encompasses workplace safety, earthquake 
preparedness, fire prevention and preparedness, 
ethical compliance, environmental protection, 
product quality, and operational continuity. The 
committees, divisions, and other organizational 
units responsible for those and other facets of risk 
management work out appropriate measures for 
addressing risk and oversee the implementation 
of those measures. 

Ethical compliance

Basic approach
Yokohama is committed to ensuring compliance 
with rigorous standards of corporate ethics. The 
Company works systematically to ingrain that 
commitment in its corporate culture and in its 

daily operations. That includes building and 
maintaining an effective framework for 
enforcement, encouraging employees to report 
suspected breaches, and emphasizing corporate 
ethics in employee education and in 
awareness-raising activities. 

Ethical-enforcement framework
Each sector of operations at the parent company 
and each subsidiary has named a compliance 
monitor as part of a compliance-assurance 
network. The monitors exchange information 
about awareness-raising activities, about 
performance in complying with ethical 
guidelines, and about incidents of note. 
 
Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee, chaired by 
Yokohama’s president, meets quarterly. It reviews 
activity in ethics-related education, reports from 
the Company’s divisions, and notifications and 
input from employees about ethical concerns, 
and it considers measures for preventing ethical 
breaches. Yokohama’s Corporate Compliance 
Department serves as the secretariat for the 
committee.

Internal channels for reporting suspected 
violations
<Hotline>
Yokohama has established a hotline that enables 
employees at the parent company and at 
subsidiaries in Japan to report suspected 
violations of legal regulations or corporate 
guidelines anonymously. The hotline is in 
conformance with Japanese legislation that 
mandates protection for “whistleblowers.” It 
allows employees to report suspected violations 
to an independent legal office by telephone, fax, 
or e-mail. Yokohama has distributed cards that 
bear the telephone number, fax number, and 
e-mail address to all employees at the parent 
company and its subsidiaries in Japan. 

<Consultation>
Yokohama has established an internal e-mail 
function to respond to employee doubts or 
suspicions about any company-related subjects. 
The consultation function is available to everyone 
who has access to internal e-mail at Yokohama in 
Japan. Employees can use the consultation 
function to discuss the legality or propriety of any 
ongoing or proposed activity. 
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Corporate Officer
General Manager of Industrial Products Technical Div.

Hirohiko Takaoka
Corporate Officer
General Manager of Sports Business Div.

Takao Oishi
Corporate Officer
President of Yokohama Tire Corporation, President of 
Yokohama Corporation of America, President of Yokohama 
Corporation of North America

Shigeo Komatsu
Corporate Officer
General Manager of Tire Global Product Planning Div. 

Yasushi Tanaka
Corporate Officer
Deputy General Manager of Corporate Planning Div., General 
Manager of Corporate Planning Dept.

Tatsuya Murata
Corporate Officer
General Manager of Aerospace Div.

Fumio Morita
Corporate Officer
General Manager of Corporate Finance & Accounting Dept., 
President of Yokohamagomu Finance Co., Ltd.

Toshiyuki Nishida
Corporate Officer
In charge of Industrial Products Business, General Manager of 
Industrial Products Production Div., Chairman and CEO of YH 
America, Inc., Chairman of SAS Rubber Company

Directors, Corporate Auditors, and Corporate Officers
As of June 26, 2009
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Yokohama H.P.T Ltd.

Yokohama (Suisse) SA

Yokohama Italia S.P.A.

Yokohama Austria GmbH
Yokohama Rubber

Latin America Comercio Ltda.

SAS Rubber Company

YH America, Inc.

Yokohama Tire (Canada) Inc.

Yokohama Tyre 
Australia Pty. Ltd.

Yokohama Tire Sales Philippines, Inc.

Hangzhou Yokohama Tire Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Continental 
Tire Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Aerospace America, Inc.

Yokohama Rubber (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Tyre Vietnam Inc.

SC Kingflex Corporation

Yokohama Tire Taiwan Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Scandinavia AB

Head Office

Yokohama Europe GmbH

Yokohama Tire Manufacturing (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Corporation 
of America

Yokohama Tire Philippines, Inc.

N.V. Yokohama Belgium S.A.

Yokohama HAMATITE (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Russia L.L.C.

Yokohama Tire Korea Co., Ltd.
Yokohama Hoses & Coupling (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Rubber (China) Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Tire Sales (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

Shandong Yokohama Rubber 
Industrial Products Co., Ltd.

Suzhou Yokohama Tire Co., Ltd.

GTY Tire Company

Yokohama Tire Corporation

Jeddah Office

Dubai Office

Yokohama India 
Pvt. Ltd.

Yokohama Asia Co., Ltd.

Yokohama Tire Sales (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

Singapore Branch

Overseas Subsidiaries and Affiliates  

Production and sales of tires and related products 
Yokohama Tire Corporation 
Hangzhou Yokohama Tire Co., Ltd. 
Suzhou Yokohama Tire Co., Ltd.
Yokohama Tire Philippines, Inc. 
Yokohama Tyre Vietnam Inc. 
Yokohama Tire Manufacturing (Thailand) Co., Ltd. 
GTY Tire Company  

Sales of tires and related products 
Yokohama Tire (Canada) Inc. 
Yokohama Corporation of America 
Yokohama Tyre Australia Pty. Ltd. 
Yokohama H.P.T Ltd. 
Yokohama Italia S.P.A.
Yokohama (Suisse) SA 
Yokohama Scandinavia AB 
Yokohama Reifen GmbH 
Yokohama Austria GmbH 
Yokohama Danmark A/S 
Yokohama Iberia, S.A.
Yokohama Russia L.L.C. 
N.V. Yokohama Belgium S.A. 
Yokohama Tire Sales (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 
Yokohama Tire Taiwan Co., Ltd. 
Yokohama Tire Korea Co., Ltd. 
Yokohama Tire Sales Philippines, Inc.
Yokohama Tire Sales (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Yokohama Asia Co., Ltd. 
Yokohama India Pvt. Ltd.
Yokohama Rubber Latin America Comercio Ltda.

Holding company for shares of YTC and other companies 
Yokohama Corporation of North America  

Marketing support and services for European sales company 
Yokohama Europe GmbH  

Overall control of Yokohama Rubber’s subsidiaries in 
the tire and MB market in China 
Yokohama Rubber (China) Co., Ltd.  

Production and sales of windshield sealants and hoses 
YH America, Inc. 
Yokohama Rubber (Thailand) Co., Ltd.  

Production and sales of windshield sealants 
Yokohama HAMATITE (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.  

Production and sales of hoses 
SAS Rubber Company 
SC Kingflex Corporation 
Yokohama Hoses & Coupling (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.  

Production and sales of conveyor belts 
Shandong Yokohama Rubber Industrial Products Co., Ltd.  

Sales of aircraft components 
Yokohama Aerospace America, Inc.    

Overseas offices and branch
Jeddah Office, Dubai Office, Singapore Branch 

Yokohama Iberia, S.A. 

Global Network

Yokohama Corporation of North America
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Company Name: 
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd.

Head Office: 
36-11, Shimbashi 5-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-8685, Japan

Established: 
October 13, 1917 

Paid-in Capital: 
¥38,909 million

Fiscal Year-end: 
March 31

General Meeting of Shareholders: 
June

Transfer Agent: 
The Chuo Mitsui Trust and Banking Company, Limited
33-1, Shiba 3-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-8574, Japan

Stock Exchange Listings: 
Tokyo, Osaka, Nagoya

Contact Points for Investors:
PR/IR section, Corporate Communications Dept.
36-11, Shimbashi 5-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-8685, Japan
Phone: 81-(0)3-5400-4531    Facsimile: 81-(0)3-5400-4570

Investor Relations Web Site:
http://www.yrc-pressroom.jp/ir_en/

Investor Information
As of March 31, 2009

51

Stock Information
As of March 31, 2009

Principal Shareholders

Common Stock Price Trends

Authorized number of shares: 
Number of shares issued and outstanding:
Number of shareholders: 

700,000,000
342,598,162 (unchanged from fiscal 2008 year-end) 
16,043 (994 fewer than at fiscal 2008 year-end)

ASAHI MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

ZEON CORPORATION 

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account)

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account) 

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account 4G)

Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.

Stock Price (Yen):

High

Low

Fiscal Year-end

2006

¥ 700

403

612

342,598,162

2007

¥ 790

439

724

342,598,162

2008

¥ 944

436

477

342,598,162

2009

¥ 658

301

409

342,598,162

2005

¥ 480

342

425

342,598,162

8.0%

7.1

6.9

6.3

4.6

3.8

Name Percentage of Voting Rights

Shares of Common Stock 
Issued and Outstanding

Ownership
Individuals
and othersForeigners

Other domestic 
companiesFinancial institutions

2008

2009

2007

52.3 22.1 10.6 12.8

Treasury 
stock

2.1%46.8% 20.1% 16.8% 14.2%

2.2

44.7 22.1 17.0 14.0 2.2

Stock Price Range and Trading Volume on the Tokyo Stock Exchange
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0

Stock Price (¥)

Trading Volume (Million Shares)  

Apr. 2004 Apr. 2005 Apr. 2006 Apr. 2007 Apr. 2008
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The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd.
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